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Monday, March 29, 2021
--- On commencing at 9:47 a.m.

DR. ELSAYED:  Good morning, everyone.  My name is Emad Elsayed, and I'll be presiding over this proceeding.  With me on the Panel are my fellow Commissioners, Ms. Allison Duff and Mr. Pankaj Sardana.

First and foremost, I hope everyone is doing well and staying safe under these unusual circumstances.  The Ontario Energy Board is sitting today on the matter of an application filed by Upper Canada Transmission Inc., operating as NextBridge Infrastructure LLP.  The application was filed by NextBridge with OEB on November 4th, 2020 under section 78 of that Ontario Energy Board Act, seeking approval for its electricity transmission rates beginning April 1st, 2022 and for each following year through to December 31st, 2031.  This application has been assigned case number EB-2020-0150.

This oral hearing has been scheduled for three days, and you should have a copy of the schedule which was provided by Ms. Ashley Sanasie.  As you can see from the schedule, we will have two short morning breaks and two afternoon breaks, as well as a one-hour lunch break.

Before I ask for appearances I would ask OEB counsel, Mr. Lawren Murray, to run through some of the logistics for the day and introduce his team.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  My name is Lawren Murray, and I'm counsel for Board Staff, and with me today from Board Staff are Nancy Marconi, Tracy Gardiner, Tina Lee, and Michael Price, and in addition we have Ashley Sanasie, from the registrar's office, who is the hearing advisor on this matter.

So just a quick briefing, which I'm sure a number of you have heard before.  This event is being transcribed.  Therefore, please speak clearly into the microphone and avoid speaking when someone else is already talking, because it will not be possible for the court reporter to hear either party.

If you need to address the Panel, please turn on your camera.  That will give an indication that you wish to address the Panel.  But if you think you haven't been noticed, please interject, if you would.

I would, however, ask that anyone who interjects to please start by saying your name and who you represent, as this will assist the court reporter in accurately transcribing today's hearing.

The event today is being live-audio-streamed on the OEB's website.  It is also being recorded in order to assist the transcription services.  That recording will be deleted after 14 days.  Zoom allows you to join this event by landline or cell phone.  Therefore, please make sure you write down the Zoom phone numbers, which are an invitation that you will already receive for today's event.  If you experience any difficulty difficulties we will try and resolve the issue quickly.  If we were unable to resolve the issue quickly we will move on to the next party on the schedule and reschedule the affected party to later on in the day.  As such, all parties are expected to be ready at any point during today to present their questions.

And finally, in case you drop off this call or are unable to rejoin the event, please inform Ms. Sanasie at ashley.sansie@oeb.ca.  All of you will have received numerous e-mails from her over the last few weeks.

And with that I will pass it back to the Panel.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you, Mr. Murray.  May I now have the other appearances please.  Sorry, going back to Mr. Murray, will you introduce your team first, please?


Appearances:


MR. MURRAY:  Yes.  My team is -- along with me from Board Staff are Nancy Marconi, Tracy Gardiner, Tina Lee, and Michael Price.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.

May I now have the other appearances, please, starting with NextBridge, and then I will go to the intervenors in alphabetical order by their organization name, but for NextBridge we will have the witness panel introduced shortly to be affirmed.  However, I would ask that counsel for NextBridge introduce anyone other than the witness panel now, please.

MR. VEGH:  Thank you, Mr. Chair, and good morning, good morning, Mr. Sardana -- Sardana, good morning, Ms. Duff.  My name is George Vegh.  I'm external counsel for NextBridge, and as you indicated, Mr. Chair, we have a number of witnesses, and we will introduce them when we are on the record.

But in addition to me, we have Mr. Murphy, who I will ask to introduce himself in a moment, and just to let you know, we have a couple of support assistants as well.  Jillian Still and Kim Howenstine will be operating the system to present materials, both intervenor compendium and pre-filed evidence that we will be referring to throughout the course of the hearing.

DR. ELSAYED:  Now, as I said, I will go to the intervenors alphabetically.  Association of Major Power Consumers of Ontario.

MS. GRICE:  Good morning, everyone.  It's Shelley Grice, representing the Association of Major Power Consumers in Ontario.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank, you Ms. Grice.  Building Owners and Managers Association?

MR. ENGEL:  Good morning.  Albert Engel, representing BOMA, just observing.  Thank you.

DR. ELSAYED:  Good morning, Mr. Engle.  Consumers Council of Canada.

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes, good morning.  Julie Girvan on behalf of the Consumers Council of Canada.

DR. ELSAYED:  Good morning, Ms. Girvan.  Energy Probe Research Foundation.

DR. HIGGIN:  Good morning, Mr. Chair and Commissioners.  Roger Higgin for Energy Probe.  Thank you.

DR. ELSAYED:  Good morning.  Hydro One Networks.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Good morning, Mr. Chair and Panel.  Michael Engelberg, counsel to Hydro One Networks Inc., and I'm here with Joanne Richardson and Jeffrey Smith, who are directors, and Pasquale Catalano, senior regulatory advisor.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.  Independent Electricity System Operator.

MS. CHASE:  Hello, it's Maia Chase, and I'm representing, but I'm only observing.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.  Michipicoten First Nation.

MS. ZAJDEAMAN:  Marcie Zajdeman on behalf of Michipicoten First Nation, and I'm only observing.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.  School Energy Coalition.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Good morning, Commissioners.  Mark Rubenstein, counsel for the School Energy Coalition.

DR. ELSAYED:  Good morning.  Vulnerable Energy Consumer Coalition.

MR. GARNER:  Good morning, Commissioners.  Mark Garner for VECC.

DR. ELSAYED:  Good morning.  Any preliminary matters?
Preliminary Matters:


MR. VEGH:  Yes, Mr. Chair, thank you.  Just a couple of them.  First, just to make clear for the record, I believe this has already been communicated to the panel.  But in terms of breakout rooms for when the witnesses are caucusing, we have, you'll see, witnesses from four different jurisdictions, and they will be meeting online when they caucus.  I'm physically with one of the witnesses today, so I will leave the room during the caucus so I don't hear any of their discussion, and that's just -- I want to put that on the record.

The second preliminary matter is that, as I advised staff, one of the witnesses you will meet in a minute, Ms. Becky Walding, has an appointment this afternoon to get a COVID vaccination, so I've spoken to the people who are cross-examining today, Mr. Rubenstein and Ms. Grice, and they were kind enough to be able to coordinate their questions so that they wouldn't -- so it wouldn't cause a disruption, so I appreciate that.  I want to put our thanks for that on the record, and she will be leaving this afternoon during the break at 2:20 with your leave, Mr. Chair.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you very much, and I'll turn over to you, Mr. Vegh, now to introduce the witness panel so that they can be affirmed by Mr. Sardana.

MR. VEGH:  Okay.  Thank you.  I would like to introduce the panel by reference to their CVs.  I think that will make it a bit simpler to see just who they are and what they will be addressing, and I'm going to start with Ms. Tidmarsh, who is here in Toronto with me, sorry, then we will introduce the other witnesses.

Good morning, Ms. Tidmarsh.  Can you please confirm your name and title with your employer on the record?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.  My name is Jennifer Tidmarsh, and I am the project director at NextBridge.

MR. VEGH:  We have your CV that's been filed with the Board as Exhibit A, tab 9, schedule 3 along with all the other witness CVs.

I won't ask you to go through it in detail, but could you please provide a brief outline of your responsibilities at NextEra?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, I can.  I work for NextEra, which is one of the partner organizations as part of NextBridge, along with Enbridge and OMERS.  And as NextEra, I am the president of transmission in Canada.

Previous to that, I was the director of Indigenous relations for NextEra, and I've been working on the East-West Tie project -- the East-West Tie project since 2013.

MR. VEGH:  Thank you.  Could you also please advise the panel of the areas that you were responsible for in preparing the evidence and interrogatory responses?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, I can.  My area of responsibility are the project management of the projects, Indigenous consultation, Indigenous participation, and additionally, some of our OMA costs when it comes to compliance and regulatory.

MR. VEGH:  Do you have any updates to provide the panel with respect to that evidence?

MS. TIDMARSH:  No, I do not.

MR. VEGH:  Thank you, Ms. Tidmarsh.  I am going to turn to the other witnesses now, and I'll do it in the order that is set out in Exhibit A-9, starting from the beginning, so starting with you, Mr. Mayers.

Do we have you there?  Could you please confirm -- good morning.  Could you please confirm your name and title for the and employer for the record, please.


MR. MAYERS:  My name is Daniel Mayers, and I am the director of transmission within the engineering and construction organization of NextEra Energy Resources.

MR. VEGH:  Could you please provide a brief outline of your responsibilities at NextEra.


MR. MAYERS:  Yes, sir.  My current responsibilities include the design group transmission and substation project engineering, as well as support services for power and light NextEra Energy Resources, NextBridge and NextEra Energy Transmission.

MR. VEGH:  Thank you.  Can you identify the major areas that you worked on for the preparation of the evidence and the interrogatory responses?

MR. MAYERS:  Yes, sir.  The engineering package, the transmission costs and the OM&A portion of both vegetation management and support services from NEET.

MR. VEGH:  Thank you.  And do you have any changes or updates to the evidence that you've worked on?

MR. MAYERS:  No, sir.

MR. VEGH:  Thank you, Mr. Mayers.  I'm going to turn to you, Mr. Raffenberg.

MR. RAFFENBERG:  Good morning.  Can you hear me?

MR. VEGH:  I can hear you, thank you.  Your CV is set out at Exhibit A, tab 9, schedule 3.  Can you please confirm your name and title for the record?

MR. RAFFENBERG:  My name is Matthew J. Raffenberg.  I am the environmental lead for NextBridge, and I am the senior director of environmental services for NextEra Energy.

MR. VEGH:  Can you provide a brief outline of your responsibilities at NextEra?

MR. RAFFENBERG:  In my role, I have responsibility for the environmental due diligence and permitting for all of NextEra's projects in North America.

MR. VEGH:  Thank you.  And can you identify the matters addressed in the prefiled evidence and interrogatory responses that you worked on?

MR. RAFFENBERG:  Areas related to environmental issues, as well as environmental permitting.

MR. VEGH:  Thank you.  Do you have any changes or updates to provide to that evidence?

MR. RAFFENBERG:  I do not.

MR. VEGH:  Thank you, Mr. Raffenberg.  I'll turn to you now, Mr. Russo.

MR. RUSSO:  Good morning.

MR. VEGH:  Good morning, Mr. Russo.  Can you please state your name and title for the record.


MR. RUSSO:  Yes.  My name is Christopher Russo.  I'm the vice-president and head of the energy practice and economic consultant firm, with offices in Boston, Toronto, and numerous other locations.

MR. VEGH:  Thank you.  Just to put this on the record, the NextEra people, other than Ms. Tidmarsh, are in Florida.  Where are you calling in from today, Mr. Russo?

MR. RUSSO:  I'm connecting in from Boston today.

MR. VEGH:  Can you please provide an outline of your responsibilities at Charles River Associates?

MR. RUSSO:  Certainly.  I direct the energy practice, and in addition to my administrative duties, I provide consulting services around commercial advisory and strategic guidance to developers, utilities, and financial institutions, and I also offer expert testimony in both regulatory and disputes -- regulatory proceedings and disputes.

MR. VEGH:  Can you please identify the areas that you addressed in the prefiled evidence and interrogatory responses?

MR. RUSSO:  Yes.  At NextBridge's request, I prepared a benchmarking study of the costs for the East-West Tie against other comparable projects, which is set forth in my report that's been submitted as one of the exhibits.

MR. VEGH:  Do you have any updates or changes to your prefiled evidence that you should make the panel aware of?

MR. RUSSO:  No, sir, I do not.

MR. VEGH:  Thank you, Mr. Russo.  I'm going to turn now to you, Ms. Schwaebe.  Have I pronounced that correct?

MS. SCHWAEBE:  Good morning, Mr. Vegh.  It's Schwaebe.

MR. VEGH:  Thank you.  While we're on that, can you please confirm your name and title for the record?

MS. SCHWAEBE:  Yes, my name is Kara Schwaebe with Canacre, acting  on behalf of NextBridge as the witness for land matters.

MR. VEGH:  Thank you.  Can you please identify your major responsibilities at Canacre?

MS. SCHWAEBE:  Canacre was retained by NextBridge as a land consultant for the East-West Tie.  In my role at Canacre and in relation to this project, my responsibilities include overseeing land matters, specifically land acquisition and land budgeting.

MR. VEGH:  And can you identify the areas that you worked on in preparation of the prefiled evidence and interrogatory responses?

MS. SCHWAEBE:  Yes.  The areas relative to land matters, excluding Indigenous.

MR. VEGH:  Thank you.  Do you have any updates to any of that evidence?

MS. SCHWAEBE:  I do not.

MR. VEGH:  Thank you.  We have met Ms. Tidmarsh already, so let's go down to Ms. Walding.  Good morning, Ms. Walding.  And just for the Record, we are now at page 23 of Exhibit A93.  Good morning, Ms. Walding.

MS. WALDING:  Good morning.

MR. VEGH:  Can you please confirm your name and title for the record, please?

MS. WALDING:  Yes.  My name is Becky Walding, and I'm the executive director of business management for NextEra, but I also serve on the board of directors for NextBridge.

MR. VEGH:  Can you provide a brief outline of your responsibilities at NextEra.


MS. WALDING:  Yes.  I'm responsible for finance, accounting, and regulatory of all our competitive transmission projects throughout the U.S. and Canada.

MR. VEGH:  Can you please identify the areas that you worked on in preparing the prefiled evidence and interrogatory responses?

MS. WALDING:  Yes, I prepared the rate structure and also assisted with the costs.

MR. VEGH:  Thank you.  Do you have any changes or updates with respect to that evidence that you wanted to bring to the panel's attention?

MS. WALDING:  No, I do not.

MR. VEGH:  Thank you, Ms. Walding.  We will turn to you now, Ms. Weinstein.  Good morning, Ms. Weinstein.

MS. WEINSTEIN:  Good morning.

MR. VEGH:  Could you please confirm your name and title for the record.


MS. WEINSTEIN:  Carly Weinstein, manager of forecasting and analysis for NextEra Energy Transmission.

MR. VEGH:  Thank you.  And can you please provide a brief outline of your responsibilities at NextEra.


MS. WEINSTEIN:  Sure.  I provide financial accounting and rate support for the regulated entities across North America within NextEra Transmission.

MR. VEGH:  Thank you.  And can you please identify the major areas that you worked on in the pre-filed evidence and the interrogatory responses.


MS. WEINSTEIN:  I supported the rate sections and the cost sections of the application.

MR. VEGH:  Do you have any changes or updates to the areas that you worked on?

MS. WEINSTEIN:  No, I do not.

MR. VEGH:  Thank you, Ms. Weinstein.  Mr. Chair, those are the witnesses that will be in witness panel 1 that you'll be hearing more of over the next couple of days.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you, Mr. Vegh.  Now I will turn it over to Mr. Sardana to affirm the witnesses, please.

MR. SARDANA:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Good morning, witnesses.
NEXTBRIDGE - PANEL 1:
Jennifer Tidmarsh,
Becky Walding,
Carly Weinstein,
Dan Mayers,
Matt Raffenberg,
Kara Schwaebe,
Chris Russo; Affirmed.

MR. SARDANA:  Thank you, witnesses.  Over to you, Mr. Chair.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you, Mr. Sardana.  Now, I understand, Mr. Vegh, that you have a presentation to make now?

MR. VEGH:  Yes, thank you, Mr. Chair.  The witnesses have prepared a presentation that they will be providing by way of outline of the case to -- for the benefit of the Panel to see how all these issues arise and may hang together.  I won't be conducting any real examination-in-chief.  I will just have the witnesses, starting with Ms. Tidmarsh, go through the presentations.  The presentation was filed with the Board on March 26th.  I don't know, staff, whether it's received an exhibit number yet or whether we should add the exhibit now, but I would ask Ms. Still to pull up the presentation so Ms. Tidmarsh can -- thank you.

Do we have a -- Staff, do we have an exhibit number or should we add one now?

MR. MURRAY:  We will add one -- it's Lawren Murray for OEB Staff.  We will add one now.  The PowerPoint will be Exhibit K1.1.

MR. VEGH:  Thank you.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  NEXTBRIDGE POWERPOINT PRESENTATION.

MR. VEGH:  Go ahead, Ms. Tidmarsh.
Presentation by Ms. Tidmarsh:


MS. TIDMARSH:  Great.  Thank you, Mr. Vegh.

Good morning, everyone.  I thought I'd -- the panel and I wanted to start this morning with a presentation with the key points of our evidence.  So I'll be moving along.  I'll also be calling on my fellow witnesses to present some of these slides.  And so -- and I'll just call next slide when I'm moving on.  So can I get the next slide, please.  Great.

So as part of this we have all been introduced, so I'll bring that slide up as well, but it's a good cheat sheet as we move forward as to who is doing what.  We will go over the project overview, our rate case filing itself, talk briefly about cost prudence in the three cost categories we're looking at, phase shift costs, construction costs, OM&A, also discuss our treatment of our proposed treatment of the COVID-19 costs, an overview of our variance and deferral accounts, and then an overview of our transmission system plan and our performance measures.

Next slide, please.  Introduction to witnesses.  Next slide.  Great.

So here is the -- here is -- and we have already all been confirmed, and so I won't go through it, but myself, Becky Walding, Dan Mayers, Matt Raffenberg, Kara Schwaebe, Chris Russo, and Carly Weinstein will be our witnesses.

Next slide, please.  Going to speak briefly about the project overview.  That's great.  So this is the project.  So this is this project.  It's always good to start with a map.  So it goes from just outside of Thunder Bay all the way to Wawa.  It runs, you can see, through many different municipalities, and it goes through First Nations, so it goes through the reserves of Pays Plat First Nation and Michipicoten First Nation as well, so around the top of Lake Superior.

The project itself is broken up into 11 work fronts.  And so the reason we broke it up into 11 work fronts is it assists us with construction timing, but also with permitting, which Mr. Raffenberg will expand on later in his evidence.

Next slide, please.  Thank you.  So the project itself has been in development and in construction for a total of 8 years.  As I mentioned before, it's 450 kilometres of double-circuit 230 kV lines.  It's got 1,228 structures.  The reason and the need for the line was determined by the IESO to need -- as needed for reliability in northwestern Ontario.

We began construction in the fall of 2019 at the end of September, and we are on track to meet our anticipated commercial operation date of March the 3st of 2022.

Some interesting facts and key facts about this project.  It is the first ever caribou species at risk overall benefits permit in all of Ontario.  The line runs through in the middle section work fronts 5, 6, and 7 are actually in species at risk for caribou -- we call it the caribou zone.  And so we have received a permit from MECP, so the Ministry of Environment, Conservation, and Parks for our first ever species at risk permit for caribou.  Also, we have an environmental assessment that's been approved.  That environmental assessment actually contains 1,061 conditions, which was key for us in the project to be able to move forward.

We have also negotiated 191 landowner agreements and completed all five expropriations on the project.  Most of the land here on the project is Crown land.  However, with landowner agreements we have 191.

We have engaged with 18 Indigenous communities to  meet our duty-to-consult obligations, and then provided those communities economic participation, and as well we have successfully negotiated three federal reserve crossing permits so that we can parallel the existing line.  I mentioned before Pays Plat and Michipicoten, but also Pic Mobert required a 28(2) -- they call it 28(2) reserve crossing federal permits.

Next slide, please.  So I hope that this morning you can forgive my sin of pride, but I did want to include a few photographs of the line and what we've been doing since our construction began in 2019.  Here you can see our clearing activities.  As mentioned before -- as we will mention, our clearing is done in the winter months to make sure that the ground is frozen, and so here is just -- and unfortunately for my northern friends, this is recently, so they are still receiving snow.  They had a snow storm on the weekend.  But under frozen ground conditions is when we do our clearing.

You can see the terrain is not flat.  It is in Canadian Shield, thick boreal forest.

Next slide.  This one is another photograph.  This is from the aptly named Kama Cliffs, and you can see the lake in the far side in the back.  It's beautiful country, and if everyone has -- anyone has ever been, but you can see again some of the difficult terrain that we had to work through for those 450 kilometres.  A lot of it is quite untouched.

Next slide.  So not only are the cliffs the aptly named red rock, Ontario, you can see again on the bottom right corner our excavators, and the rock that we have had to dig through to get this line and our line right of way going out into the horizon.  And the top corner on the right side is how we've kept our machinery at the cliff in order to get our transmission towers up there.

Next slide.  Now I'll pass it on to Ms. Walding to discuss our rate case application.
Presentation by Ms. Walding:


MS. WALDING:  Thank you, Ms. Tidmarsh.  So NextBridge has filed an application and a request for the rates to be set for IR term, using a custom incentive rate formula.

The revenue requirement was based on cost-of-service forward-looking test year.  Based off the test year, we propose a revenue cap index for revenue requirements starting on April 1st of 2022 and ending on December 31st of 2031.  And this is a 9-year and 9-month time period.

Under this framework, NextBridge will take responsibility for managing the OM&A and capital additions without requesting recovery of any capital additions until the rebasing at the end of this approximate 10-year time period.

The internal and external cost pressures that will be managed over the term are expected to be in excess of the test year revenue requirement.  We have included minimal OM&A in our application, and so that is why we are saying it may be expected to be in excess.

So what NextBridge is expecting is that the revenue cap provides the right incentive to maintain the line in a cost effective manner that we think will result in high reliability and operational excellence.

Next slide.  The forecasted test year has an opening gross plan of 774.9 million, and this includes from our leave -- from our development cost hearing, we have 31.2 million that has already been approved by the OEB.  In that same proceeding, we have 5.3 million that was called phase shift cost and that was designated as eligible for recovery as construction cost.  So we are proposing including it in this hearing.

We have 737.1 million of construction costs and 1.2 million of spare strategy costs.  And that is what makes up our 774.9 million.  So the revenue requirement you can see below for a 12-month period, that would be 55.7 million as the revenue requirement.

However, NextBridge will only be in-service for 9 months of the first year.  And so in 2022, we are proposing that that be prorated for 9 months out of the 12, and that comes to 41.8 million.  Next.  And you can see on the left side of this table it comes to the 774.9 that we just previously discussed.

We do have some in-service additions in the test year of 0.2 million, and that comes to 775.2.  And then on the right side, you can see we have the accumulated depreciation for the 9-month period.  So then it comes to an average plan of 770.4, and then an average gross plan for the test year of 775.2.

Some key elements of the rate case filing, as I already mentioned the term is 9 years and 9 months.  The ROE in the application is 8.52 and that is reflective of the ROE that was in effect at that time.  We have not  put in a productivity factor and inflation factor, which is the OEB's inflation factor of 2 percent is what we've used.

We have also had a rate case trigger based off of the -- what the OEB has said in distribution cases, that applications will be re-evaluated for potential rate cases at 300 basis points, so we have included that as a trigger in our application, that we would think that the OEB would re-evaluate us if we ever exceeded that over the allowed ROE.

Next slide.  So the rate term, we are proposing this 9-year 9-month rate term.  So essentially by doing that, we are locking in a historically low ROE for customers.  And you can see based off of the -- if you go back and look, which we are going to do in the next slides, this is an historically low ROE.  So therefore, locking that in for almost a 10-year term essentially hedges the ROE for customers.  And so they lock in this low ROE for almost ten years.  And then also ratepayers are protected from any large escalations and costs, because we're going to be managing the costs within our approved funding envelope.  There is not large escalations they are going to be exposed to in a rebasing during the 9-month 9-year period, and also avoids any unnecessary and costly proceedings during IR term.

Next slide.  This is what I mentioned before.  So we went back and we evaluated the cost of capital parameters for the past ten years, and while there has been an update to the ROE from 852 to 834 for the 2021 period, that's negative 2.5.  However, if you look at it over a 10-year period, this is a very significant savings for customers that the ROE be locked in for this time period.  This is an historic low, as I mentioned, and if history repeats itself, then you can see how there is going to be significant savings from locking this ROE in for a long time period.

Next slide.  Under productivity, we see the productivity factor of zero percent and under this proposal, we will manage the costs for the entire time period, so for the 9-year and 9-month time period.  And so we will manage all the expenses under the funding allowed by the revenue cap framework.

NextBridge does not expect to recognize OM&A efficiencies in this time period.  This is a 450 kilometre line and it expects to have a lot of OM&A during this time period, and also OM&A is not a large portion of the revenue requirement.  So that's also a reason why we have the productivity factor of zero percent.

When we see set the OM&A for the test period, we actually provided a minimal OM&A.  And you will see in some of the evidence that we have that this was based off of -- you can see that it's minimal based off of the benchmarking that we've done with other projects similar to us.  And so this leads us to manage the OM&A within the funding allowed.

NextBridge's proposal for to us to mitigate any over earnings is to not include -- I'm sorry.  So what we've done is during the time period, we're going to be putting in some capital.  So one of the things that we've included is that the capital is not included in the revenue requirement that we're going to be doing during the IR term.  Any additional OM&A cost above the rate set in application will not be recovered, and any increased financing costs during this time period of any debt maturing or being reissued is also not recovered, except for the initial set of the financing rates that we're asking for the variance account.

Next slide.  On inflation, we seek a 2 percent inflation rate.  This is based off of the OEB's inflation rate that they have set.  A 10-year term very well could expose NextBridge to higher inflation.  And then inflation also within our OM&A cost, it could definitely be higher.  And so what we have built into a lot of our OM&A costs is a CPI adjustment in our Indigenous agreements, labour cost in the NEET agreement, and insurance, as well as Crown land payments.  So NextBridge will be managing OM&A without passing on any increases due to -- that could be larger than the 2 percent to customers.

Next slide.
Continued Presentation by Ms. Tidmarsh:


MS. TIDMARSH:  Thank you, Ms. Walding.  I'll take from here.

So we also -- going through some of our cost prudence for some of the costs that we outlined that we were including in this application, so as part of that, the first part was the phase shift cost.  As Ms. Walding mentioned, we were as our designation, and there were some costs that we spent in our development period, and during our leave-to-construct proceedings these costs were deferred and NextBridge could in fact seek recovery of them in this hearing.  And so we have.  These costs are for the review of environmental assessment, some land optioning negotiations, land acquisition negotiations, which actually fall under Indigenous land acquisition negotiations, Indigenous economic participation costs, and so because of these costs that we spent during the development period we've realized some efficiencies and some cost savings for customers in our construction phase.  So for example, all the early engagement that we did on these land acquisition negotiations resulted in a high percentage, so 96 percent, of landowners executing option agreements, which actually greatly reduced the number of expropriations.

Next slide, please.  We're also seeking recovery of our construction costs, so we are -- costs are forecasted to be on budget when compared to the leave-to-construct application budget, so the 737 million is what we presented in our leave to construct and what we're bringing forward here in this rate case application.

Nearly 90 percent of our forecasted construction costs have been contracted, so this actually will reduce any sort of future volatility and pricing and assures resource availability to the contracts and agreed-upon price and a negotiated scope of work.

To date NextBridge has spent 60 percent of its costs to advance construction, so for example, NextBridge has procured materials and has already incurred these costs to purchase the towers and the wire and to ship those construction materials to the site.  We've also paid our land payments to secure access to the right of way to allow for construction.  We have done all of our Indigenous consultation up until this point prior to construction to meet our duty to consult, and we have worked to attain our environmental permits with field studies before construction began.

I'm now going to pass it on to Mr. Mayers.  Next slide, please, for our OM&A costs.  Dan, unfortunately I think you're on mute.

MR. MAYERS:  So sorry.
Presentation by Mr. Mayers:


NextBridge OM&A spending on a per-asset basis is low compared to other transmitters in Ontario, and that's apart from the benchmarking study that Mr. Russo will discuss.

NextBridge has many risks to manage over this roughly 10-year term without passing these costs on to ratepayers.  Some of those include the rising income-tax re-expense.  We have to manage 450 kilometres of right of way and almost the same amount of additional off-site right of way that we have for access.  We also have to -- we have a vegetation management program that's required.

This is a very extreme environment, the locale.  You have a tendency for heavy icing in the winter, freezing cold temperatures, lightning, and because there's so many trees, there's fire-related damage that could be caused.  And then once that occurs we have to determine whether there was any damage to the transmission asset, and then we'll have to go and begin remediation activities.

New First Nations reserve land could be added to the land base of the project, requiring new federal agreements and additional payments.  And then there's potential compliance changes that could be mandated by NERC.

Next slide, please.  NextBridge competitively procured the maintenance services contract for this project, and we will award this contract to the HONI Supercom group.  HONI has a historical understanding of the area.  They have been there for many years.  They have infrastructure in place.  They are familiar with the maintenance activities and a good bit of the right of way that we're currently going to be in.  The proximity of existing infrastructure also allows them to respond quickly.  They have prime locations where they have both crews, equipment, and materials that basically cover from one end of the line to the other.  The current contract itself is approximately a 3-year contract, and it can be extended for an additional two years.

To the right you see the actual total OM&A costs.  The operation and maintenance portion of it is 1.27 million.  You have regulatory issues you have to contend with.  We have compliance and the administrative portion of it.  We have ongoing Indigenous participation and compliance, as well as our property taxes and rights of payment, for a total of 4.94 million.

Next slide, please.  Vegetation management is going to be critical on this line.  We are required from NERC standard FAC-003-4 to annually inspect and report on the vegetation management, and the annual inspections are required, and then there are quarterly reports that are also required.

There will be aerial inspections of the entire length of the right of way, followed by appropriate vegetation remediation measures from these inspections, and what we're saying there is that those measures could include, let's say after a rough winter or a heavy windstorm or heavy rains we may have to go out and do some work in the right of way itself.  We may have to clear trees that are becoming alarmingly close or may have leaned or fallen from a storm.

There will be the requirement to mechanically brush control and manually brush control some of the vegetation growth.  We are not allowed to spray aerially any type of herbicide, so that's going to have to be done manually, and as you saw earlier from the pictures that Ms. Tidmarsh showed, the terrain is extremely rugged there, and if you can picture crews having to go in and manually control both brush and vegetation growth, it can be quite taxing and expensive and time-consuming.

This overall vegetation management plan will start immediately after the in-service date, and as we'll show later in our testimony, you know, we started clearing this right of way in September 2019, so there will be -- by the time we're done and ready for the COD of this project, there will be sections of this right of way that will not have seen vegetation management in two-and-a-half years.

Next slide, please.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Thank you, Mr. Mayers.  Next I'm going to pass this on to Ms. Weinstein to talk about NextBridge's proposed treatment of the COVID-19 costs.
Presentation by Ms. Weinstein:


MS. WEINSTEIN:  Thank you.  COVID-19-related costs are not part of the revenue requirement proposed in this application.  NextBridge is tracking and recording COVID-19 costs through the in-service date in account 2055, which is construction work in progress or CWIP.  These costs are capital costs being incurred right now as part of construction of the line.  Once in service and the COVID-19 costs are known for the duration of construction, NextBridge will record the revenue requirement associated with these capital COVID-19 costs in the proposed construction cost variance account.

NextBridge is not using account 1509, as all costs are capital construction costs being incurred right now and through the COD.  NextBridge understands that the deferral account 1509 is for differences in earnings for transmitters with rates currently in place.

NextBridge will identify and track any COVID-19 related costs in a distinct manner for later review and disposition.

Next slide.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Thank you, Ms. Weinstein.

MS. WEINSTEIN:  An overview of the deferral and variance accounts being requested in this application that NextBridge will seek disposition of following the in-service date.  We are requesting a construction cost variance account that we propose to dispose twice.  The first time will be after the second annual update following our in-service date, with a final disposition at the end of the IR term.

Next, we are proposing for usage of the existing account 1592 for taxes or payments in lieu of taxes, and we would propose to dispose of that at the end of the IR term.

The third account being requested is the debt rate variance account, which we propose to dispose of after the second annual update following in-service.  Similarly, we are also requesting a revenue differential variance account to also dispose of after the second annual update following in-service date.

Lastly, a Z factor account would be requested if an event occurs that qualifies NextBridge to use it.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Next slide.  Ms. Walding -- sorry, previous slide, treatment of debt costs.  Ms. Weinstein, Ms. Walding?

MS. WEINSTEIN:  As mentioned on the previous slide, NextBridge is requesting a debt rate variance account.  NextBridge is presuming an update on the cost of equity, however will make a one time update based on the actual cost of long-term and short-term debt based on the actual rates received during NextBridge's private placement.  That private placement is expected to occur close to the in-service date.

Next slide.  NextBridge has also requested a construction -- NextBridge has also requested a construction cost variance account, and this account would capture any currently unknown and prudently incurred costs beyond the 737 million for review and initial disposition of this account during the second annual update following the in-service date.

I'll pass it back to Jen to discuss the construction cost expected.
Continued Presentation by Ms. Tidmarsh:


MS. TIDMARSH:  Thank you, Ms. Weinstein.  At this time, NextBridge is managing its construction costs of 737.1 million dollars.  There may be some potential increases.  However, there may be some potential decreases in the budget that could offset those increases.  So by the time we get to our in-service date, we would -- sorry, commercial operation date, as Ms. Weinstein talked about our update, we would then true-up these costs and place any costs in the construction cost variance account.

As mentioned before, that if there was a debit balance to be collected from ratepayers, our credit balance would be refund for the ratepayers in the construction cost variance account.

We also seek to leave the construction cost variance account open for the remainder of the IR term to account for some activities that are a direct result of construction.  These are, for example, environmental costs that are actually associated with our overall benefits permit.  I mentioned earlier about caribou and as part of our amended EA.

Next slide.  I'll now go through the overview of our transmission system plan.  As part of TSP, NextBridge has strategic objectives.  For our strategic objectives are to foster positive and constructive relationships with Indigenous and non-Indigenous communities, maintain a reliable cost effective transmission system, protect and sustain the environment for future generations, and maintain a commercial culture that increases value for its owners.

NextBridge intends to meet its customers' needs.  Although NextBridge has no delivery points and therefore no customers, it does however do customer outreach and has been doing so since 2013 to keep communities in the northwest informed on the progress of the East-West Tie line.

Next slide.  NextBridge's asset management plan.  Mr. Mayers?
Presentation by Mr. Mayers:


MR. MAYERS:  Thank you.  NextBridge will undertake a strategic and methodical asset management planning process, adhering to relevant national and international standards as well as any local requirements and IESO requirements.

The East-West Tie, which is the 450 kilometres of 230 double circuit line, connects both outside of Lakehead, Marathon, and Wawa to HONI's transmission substations.  Since the line is new, all assets are considered low risk on the asset condition assessment.

NextBridge will perform OM&A activities, such as aerial inspections and regular vegetation management, to ensure these assets are well maintained and provide a safe reliable line for the ratepayers of Northern Ontario.

We have approximately 892 total circuit kilometres of conductor, 1228 structures, and 7368 insulators.

Next slide, please.  General plant in this case will include items such as the offices that the NEET employees will be in, their vehicles, the tools they will need, any safety equipment, as well as miscellaneous spare parts.  There will be an initial storage yard through our maintenance services contract with HONI, and the decision will be made as to where the spare equipment will be stored as we continue to work through the process.  Eventually, NextBridge is expected to build and operate its own storage yard once that contract lapses.

Reliability; reliability improvement projects such as bird deterrence and cameras are being considered, and may be necessary, and we believe will be necessary to help improve the reliability of the project.  NextBridge will seek prudence for these expenditures as part of its next rebasing of the 10 year term.  The expenditures, the general plant, approximately point 63 or 630 thousand dollars over that period, the storage yard approximately 300,000, and the liability expenses over that period are expected to be around 3.35 million dollars.  Next slide.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Thank you, Mr. Mayers.  Mr. Russo?
Presentation by Mr. Russo:


MR. RUSSO:  Good morning.  On behalf of NextBridge, CRA conducted a benchmarking study to compare the costs of the East-West Tie to other comparable projects to benchmark whether their costs were congruent with other comparators.

The overall purpose of the benchmarking study was to compare the cost of the East-West Tie to other similar projects to determine whether the costs were reasonable compared to those other similar projects.  The chart in this slide which mirrors one in my report compares the East-West Tie to other projects in Ontario, B.C., the west, which incorporates B.C. and Alberta, Alberta, and the Niagara region of Ontario.

The overall conclusion was that the East-West Tie's costs on a per-kilometre basis were among the lowest that we examined even when accounting for sensitivities in costs from other projects.  So from that we can conclude that the costs appear to be quite reasonable compared to other projects, especially when the East-West Tie is being constructed in a challenging terrain.

With that let me move on to the next slide and turn it back over to Ms. Tidmarsh.
Concluding Presentation by Ms. Tidmarsh:


MS. TIDMARSH:  Thank you, Mr. Russo.  Finally, we'll talk about our performance measures on the project.  So given that the East-West Tie line, which is a single asset and no customer delivery points are -- those typical performance measures are not completely applicable to NextBridge that we would typically use to evaluate performance, so SAIDI and SAIFI is what I'm talking about, so NextBridge is in fact proposing the following measures to best demonstrate its performance and address the performance standards for transmitters.

For safety we -- our proposed performance measure is 0.00 recordable injuries per year under the OHSA.  So I'm going to get this wrong, I know, Operational Health and Safety Association.

The next one is financial performance.  We'll be using the performance measure of return on equity.  Under the outcome of public policy responsiveness we will be using our applicable NERC reliability standards, some of which Mr. Mayers mentioned earlier, for our NextBridge-owned assets.

The outcome for operational excellence will be using the performance measure of our cost per circuit kilometre of OM&A costs, and finally, also under operational excellence, our average system availability as a percentage is how we would measure that.

And that is the end of my presentation.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you very much.

Mr. Vegh, was there anything else before we go to a break?  Okay.  Hearing none, we are intending to go to a 10-minute break.  According to my time here it's 10:50, so we will take a break now and resume at eleven o'clock.
--- Recess taken at 10:50 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:01 a.m.


MR. ELSAYED:  Welcome back, everyone.  According to our schedule, we now go to School Energy Coalition for their cross-examination.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Rubenstein:


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Good morning, panel.  I just want to make sure we're on the same page with the elements of the application, so I'm going to walk you through them and hopefully you can ensure that I at least understand the application.

I just want to understand NextBridge itself.  It's a partnership currently 50 percent owned by NextEra, 25 percent by Enbridge Inc., and 25 percent by OMERS.  Is that correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  My understanding is that by commercial operation, you will have added a new partner, that is Bamkushwada LP, which is, as I understand it, is itself a partnership of the six First Nations that the transmission line crosses.  Am I correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And they will own just slightly under 20 percent?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Then the ownership structure after will be NextEra will own 40 percent, and Enbridge and OMERS will own 20 percent.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  My understanding is the forecasted service date of the line is March 31, 2022, is that correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, it is.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So the proposed term of the rate setting plan begins April 1, 2020, and goes to December 31st, 2031, so it's 9 years and 9 months?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I have a compendium.  I was wondering if we can mark that -- if we can bring the compendium up.

MR. MURRAY:  It's Lawren Murray for OEB Staff.  We will mark SEC's compendium as K1.2.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.2:  SEC COMPENDIUM FOR NEXTBRIDGE PANEL 1

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I'll go through the page numbers, and just for the person who is operating it, the page numbers at the top of the compendium are the same as the PDF pages.

If we can turn to page 5 of the compendium -- zoom out a bit to see the page.  That's fine.

Just so I understand the structure of the rate setting plan, as I understand it's first to approve a 2020 base year revenue requirement of 55.7 million, and we see the total at the bottom of table 1; do I have that correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  You do have that have correct, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  In 2022, you will collect 9/12ths of that amount reflecting an in-service date of April 2022, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  In-service date of March 31, 2022, but the rates of August -- sorry, April 1, 2022, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That's the 41.8 million dollars we see at the bottom of table 2?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Then in the subsequent years, beginning for January 1, 2023, you will increase the base revenue requirement of the previous year by a traditional I minus X formula, correct?

MS. WALDING:  That is correct, yes.

MS. TIDMARSH:  I am going to pass the questioning on to Ms. Walding.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And the inflation amount is set to be 2 percent fixed for the term, correct?

MS. WALDING:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And the X, the productivity is set to be zero, correct?

MS. WALDING:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That's also fixed for the term.

MS. WALDING:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So the annual increase in the revenue requirement is essentially the base revenue requirement times 2 percent each year, the previous years revenue requirement?

MS. WALDING:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we flip to page 6 of the compendium, we see that, correct?  We see the total revenue requirement you'll be seeking for each subsequent year for 2023 -- subsequent year 2023 to 2031, correct?  We see that on table 3?

MS. WALDING:  Yes, that is correct, and that 2 percent is based off that OEB's approved inflation factor.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So just so I understand, so in 2023 we take the 5.57 base revenue requirement and multiply that by 2 percent to get the 56.8 million.  And then for example in 2024, we take the 56.8 million dollars and we multiply by -- we that add an additional 2 percent to that, correct?

MS. WALDING:  Yes, I want to clarify.  I think you said 5.57 in 2022.  I want to say it's 55.7 in 2022.  But yes, you are correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And is we go all the way down the table and we see 2031, we get to 66.6 million dollars.  That would be the annual revenue requirement?

MS. WALDING:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  In addition up to the additional revenue requirement, there is a number of deferral variance accounts that you are requesting that would add to the rate proposal, correct?

MS. WALDING:  That is correct.  They could add or they could subtract, depending on the direction.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I didn't mean with respect to the balance.  I mean adding to the proposal we have the deployment variance accounts.

MS. WALDING:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we flip back to page 5, I want to talk about what makes up the base revenue requirement in 2022.  And as I look at table 1, I have 4.9 million dollars for OM&A, 9.3 million dollars for depreciation, 0.6 million dollars for income taxes, and 41 million dollars for the return on capital.  Do I have that correct?

MS. WALDING:  You do have that correct, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And the last three components -- depreciation, income tax and return on capital -- would you agree with me that we can classify those as capital related elements of the revenue requirement?

MS. WALDING:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That's because they are a function of the capital costs?

MS. WALDING:  They are a function of the capital costs, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  When I add up those components, I get 50.9 million of the 55.7 million of the revenue requirement.

MS. WALDING:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So you'd agree with me that the base revenue requirement in 2020 is primarily capital cost driven?

MS. WALDING:  Yes, I would agree it is, except for the 5 million of OM&A cost, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So that's -- you can take this subject to check, it's about 91 percent of the base revenue requirement as part of those capital related revenue requirements?

MS. WALDING:  Yes, that seems about right.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let's walk through each of the elements of base revenue requirement that you are seeking.  The largest is the 41 million dollars with respect to the return on capital.

And am I correct as I understand it -- maybe we can flip to page 25 of the compendium, which is a breakdown of that amount, that's calculated by applying the 2020 OEB capital parameters to the 2022 rate base, is that correct?

MS. WALDING:  That is correct.  And I want to point out that we did ask for a variance account on the debt.  And so while we are using the OEB's capital parameters for the long-term and the short-term debt, we have requested a variance account such that we could reflect the actual costs.  So while this is calculated with the OEB's parameters, it would be trued-up.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That's with respect -- we'll talk about the variance accounts later, but that's with respect to the debt components, correct?

MS. WALDING:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Is that both long-term and short-term?

MS. WALDING:  Yes, it is.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so what you do is you took the rates from the 2020 capital parameters and you used the what I will call essentially the Board's capital -- the Board's deemed capital structure, you used that?

MS. WALDING:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  As I understand it, if we go to page 26 of the compendium, you don't plan to update for the 2021 cost of capital parameters that are subsequently issued after the filing of your application?

MS. WALDING:  As I believe we discussed in the SEC 67 is that we do have Indigenous partners, and our Indigenous partners right now are applying for their funding.  So Ms. Tidmarsh can talk a little bit more about the government program that they are applying for.  But right now we -- and even months before now we have been helping them prepare their financials, so that they can get the funding such that they can buy into the project.

So one of the reasons why we asked for the parameters to not be updated on the ROE is because we are assisting them in an application to get that funding, and if there is not an ROE associated with that, it is hard for them to develop the financial model that they need to secure that funding, and so they are planning on going now if they haven't already -- and Ms. Tidmarsh can speak to that a little bit more -- they are planning to go out now for that funding.  So Ms. Tidmarsh, can you talk a little bit more about that?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, can I just clarify before Ms. Tidmarsh -- maybe there was a misunderstanding.  Are you talking about why you're not updating to the 2021 capital parameters or not updating to some other capital parameters?

MS. WALDING:  Not updating to the 2021, but I think also, you know, you can say it's the 2021 or you can say it's the 2022.  I mean, there's a lot of different variations, and so what we were trying to do with saying that we were basing our ROE on the 2020 cost of capital parameters is to try to lock it down such that our Indigenous partners had a stable financial model that they could base their funding decisions off of.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Thank you, Ms. Walding.

So as part of Bamkushwada's buy-in to the project they are applying for the Ontario Financing Authority's program, called the Aboriginal Loan Guarantee Program, the ALGP, so this program has been used by other Indigenous proponents to be able to buy into projects, and as part of the due diligence that the OFA does for this loan guarantee program, they seek financial modelling from the First Nation that has a secure ROE.  And so to use that they are using the 8.52 as part of that model.

The First Nations have also gone out and started seeking requests for interest from lenders.  They plan on doing a request for proposal this summer, potentially around June.  Hopefully after this hearing is done there will be some more security for them on what they are looking at to get that funding, and so, yes, the reason we're looking for a locked-in rate is to help them apply for this program but also receive rates from lenders.  Thank you.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so do I take it from you what you're saying is we need -- it would be problematic to update for those partner -- or those expected partners, I should put it, to update the models.  That's why, you know, they would have to update their models and you don't, and that's not -- that's not in their -- that would not be something that would be beneficial to them.  Is that why?  Am I taking that's why you didn't update after the Board's new rates came out in the fall?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's the reason why we did not update the rates, but also why we're seeking to lock in the rates.  The Ontario Financing Authority seeks locked-in rates, and so to be able to understand, they are going to provide a loan guarantee for the First Nations, so they want to see some certainty on what the ROE and the First Nations are going to get, so they want locked-in rates for that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And did you tell them that the OEB updates has a sort of model about how it updates its ROE every year using a formulaic approach, and when you went to them did they tell you that was not acceptable, we demand a locked-in rate?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I was not part of those conversations.  That was Bamkushwada doing their own financing.  I --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  And so --


MS. TIDMARSH:  I am not aware.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  And so the -- if we can turn to page 93 of the compendium.

THE REPORTER:  I'm sorry, I'm not -- I'm missing things here with the over-talking.  One at a time, please.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we can turn to page 93 of the compendium.  So just so I'm aware of it, so just -- so am I correct here, the 2021 cost-of-capital parameters are lower than the 2020 cost-of-capital parameters, correct?

MS. WALDING:  That is correct.  And so -- but, you know, the rate is not going to be set until 2022, so even using the 2021 parameters, even if you were arguing, as I think you were, that we should be using the 2021, our rate application is really not until 2022, and so we do not know that the 2022 rates are going to be lower than the 8.52 of the 2020 rates.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, I'm not arguing anything at this stage, I'm just exploring these issues with you, and so I just want to be clear, and so -- and I agree with you, there will be a -- you would agree with me that the Board will issue another set of cost-of-capital parameters before the March 31st in-service date of the -- March 31st, 2022 in-service date of the application, correct?

MS. WALDING:  I agree with that, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so just to follow up, you're not planning to update those cost-of-capital parameters whenever they come out, whatever they are, higher or lower than today, than the ones for 2021 for this application, correct?

MS. WALDING:  That is correct, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But you do have a variance account for the debt, I think you mentioned, right?

MS. WALDING:  That's correct, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So you are updating for that part, just not for the ROE.

MS. WALDING:  Yes.  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so you're going to plan to use an ROE number for this application that will be two years out of date by the time the -- it will be two years out of date by the time the asset goes in-service, correct?

MS. WALDING:  That is correct, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Let me ask you about the -- if we can maybe go back to page 26 -- oh...

Let me ask you about the 770.4 million dollar rate base.

MS. WALDING:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if we can turn to page 28 of the compendium.  And as I understand it -- you talked a little about this this morning in the presentation -- it's made up of a few elements, and I want to understand that with you.

MS. WALDING:  Okay.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so as I understand the -- if we can go to page 29 -- or, page, sorry, 30 -- the first element that makes up the opening rate base in this application is the 31.2 million dollars in development costs that were approved in the December decision, the December 2018 decision, EB-2017-0182, correct?

MS. WALDING:  That is correct, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if we flip to page 31, we have -- the second is the 5.33 million in phase shift cost, which I understand it were amounts that you sought to include originally as development costs but the Board found in its decision that the more it took into construction costs and allow you to seek recovery when you seek recovery of the construction costs.  Do I have that correct?

MS. WALDING:  You have that correct, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  And if we flip to page 32, this is the bulk of the amount.  This is the 737.1 million dollar in forecast construction costs, correct?

MS. WALDING:  Correct, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then on page 33 we have the spare strategy, and as I understand, that's 1-point-million (sic) dollar for spare -- spare equipment that you will procure before the line goes into service, correct?

MS. WALDING:  Yes, and we can talk a little bit about the spares.  Some of them are being procured right now as part of the construction of the project because, as an example, the manufacturer of the towers is already set up to manufacture, and so we are going to have -- and the same with the conductor and a lot of the other components.  And so we're actually having savings associated with going ahead and procuring those, while all of our vendors are already being set up to manufacture those products, and so it's best for to us do that now versus later, and would be more costly later.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Is that the primary reason for the quantity of the spares?  Essentially, these things are being manufactured for the line, so we might as well buy the extra that we need now?

MS. WALDING:  Mr. Mayers, would you speak to the quantity of the spares?

MR. MAYERS:  Yes, so Mr. Rubenstein, I think as stated here, there are 17 towers that we're procuring.  A good portion of them are the guyed-Y towers that make up the majority of the line, and then because we have a family of towers, which is a total of 11 now -- we had a new one we had to build for White Lake Narrows -- but those towers of the -- you know, we have at least one of each out there and a couple of dead-end structures.  We also have the conductor and the overhead ground wire, the overhead shield wire, insulators and arrestors, which we believe are all prudent costs at this point in time because any one of those items could fail or we could have storm or some other type of weather event that could impact the transmission line right after going in-service, and you wouldn't want to be waiting four or five months for a tower to come from, you know, from a manufacturer, particularly now as you're all aware, you see the Suez Canal is kind of backed up.  So, you know, those kind of things are very prudent to have in your stockyard ready for in-service when the need arises.

MS. WALDING:  What Mr. Mayers was talking about as the family, I just want to make sure we're clear on that, that the family is -- that the different type of structures that were used on the project, we're giving one of each of the various structures used because you can't always go in and put in a structure that isn't manufactured in the same way as the structure that is already there.

Mr. Mayers, do you want to clarify a little more on that so people understand about the family?

MR. MAYERS:  I apologize if I wasn't clear.  Originally, we had a family of 10 structures that we were going to be mixing and matching throughout this transmission line that consists of light angle, heavy angle towers, both guyed and self-supporting.

The intent is to have at least one of each of those, should we have a failure.  I mentioned that we added an additional tower for the White Lake Narrows, so that gives the family of a total of 11 towers.  As we said, we want to make sure that we have the most prevalent tower covered, so we have -- I believe we have eight spare guyed-Y structures and the balance is -- I'm sorry, seven guyed-Y structures and the balance is made up of the other towers.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry.

MS. WALDING:  Spares were picked basically based off of what the project needed from a design standpoint.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  Just so I understand as we walk through those various four elements, those are what makes up the opening 2020 rate base, correct?

MS. WALDING:  That's correct, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  There is no half-year rule applied to these because, I take it, we know that those assets are going to be installed when the line goes into service?

MS. WALDING:  That is correct, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we can go to page 27 of the compendium, as I understand -- I think you talked about this during your presentation, in 2022 you're also going to plan to add an additional during the year 230,000 dollars in capital, correct?

MS. WALDING:  Yes, and these are for the bird deterrents.  So yes, we're going to be picking strategic locations.  And Mr. Mayers can talk a little bit more about that where to put them in the first year.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I want to make sure I've got the numbers right, just because I only have you, Ms. Walding, for a shorter time today.  We'll get to some of the other issues later on.

As I look at the rest of the table, those are the planned capital expenditures during the plan, correct?  For example, I see 590,000 in 2023 and then 740,000 in 2024, and so on, correct?

MS. WALDING:  That is correct, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You'd agree with me that compared to the opening rate base, these are not a major amount of capital expenditures, correct?

MS. WALDING:  I would agree with that, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So for example, when I add up the 2023 to 2031 -- so the ones outside of the 2022 base year
-- I get just over 4 million dollars in capital expenditures that you plan to spend.  Does that sound about right?

MS. WALDING:  Yes, and this is our planned -- it's really not necessarily what might happen on the project, but it is our plan at this point, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You'd agree with me that's about -- compared to the rate base of about 770 million dollars in the first year, that's about half a percent?

MS. WALDING:  That sounds about right.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we go to page 35, this is the depreciation expense and as I understand the test year, the amount is 9.26 million dollars, correct?

MS. WALDING:  Yes, that's for a full year.  It is 9.26.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That's the depreciation expense you're asking for recovery in the base year on an annualized basis.

MS. WALDING:  Yes, that's correct on an annualized basis.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Just to be clear, by that we are talking about annualized, not the actual recover year because of the effective date, correct?

MS. WALDING:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  If we flip the page over to page 36, we see the derivation of that 9.26 million.  Do you see that?

MS. WALDING:  Yes, I do.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And it's based on the various components of the -- and will you take it, subject to check, that the weighted average depreciation rate is about 1.2 percent.

MS. WALDING:  Yes, subject to check, that looks about right.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So that means, just so I am clear, that the rate base -- that initial 770.4 million rate base declines by about 1.2 percent each year?

MS. WALDING:  Yes.  That's about right, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And that's to maintain a flat rate base during the IR term, you need to have gross additions annually beginning in 2023 that match the depreciation expense?

MS. WALDING:  Will you repeat your question?  I didn't follow the question.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sure.  If you wanted to maintain a flat rate base during the IR term, you would need gross additions annually that match the depreciation expense?

MS. WALDING:  Yes, that's just one -- one component of the revenue requirement.  But yes, just for the flat rate base, I do agree.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if we flip back to page 27 that we talked about before, clearly that isn't the case with respect to your capital plan, correct?

MS. WALDING:  With respect to the capital plan, yes, that is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  The annual expenditures are a small fraction of 9.62 million dollars a year, correct?

MS. WALDING:  Correct, yes, if the 9.26 is the right amount. I haven't done that math, so that math is subject to check.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So the 9.26 million is your depreciation expense?

MS. WALDING:  I thought you were asking me about the 9.26 is the 1.2 of the rate base amount.  So the --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let me make sure everyone is clear.

MS. WALDING:  Okay.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I think you agree with me to maintain a flat rate base during the IR term, your annual gross additions would have to be at least 9.26 million dollars which is your annual depreciation expense.  I believe you agreed with me on that.

And if we look at -- let me rephrase the question. I do apologize to the court reporter and anyone else who is listening.

I think you agreed with me that to maintain a flat rate base during the IR term, your annual gross expenditures would have to be at least your depreciation expense, which I understand is 9.26 million dollars a year.

MS. WALDING:  That is right, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we look on page 27, clearly your additions are significantly lower than 9.26 million dollars a year?

MS. WALDING:  That is correct, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You agree with me you have a declining rate base during the IR term?

MS. WALDING:  Yes, but I also would like to point out the declining rate base is not the only component of the revenue requirement.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I don't disagree.  I'm not disagreeing with that.  I just want to make sure we understand this bit by bit here.

You would agree this is obviously different -- or maybe you wouldn't be aware of this, but maybe Ms. Tidmarsh would be aware of this.  This is obviously different than most of the custom IR applications the Board has in front of it where the rate base is increasing not decreasing over an IR term?

MS. WALDING:  I will speak to -- we have looked at applications similar to this, such as Bruce to Milton and Niagara connector, and what we have proposed is not any different than what those applications have proposed.

And so I don't know that I can say that it's different from all applications that are in front of the OEB Board.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I didn't say all applications.  You would agree that most custom IR applications the Board sees -- being it Hydro One transmission or the many distribution applications the Board sees, you don't have declining rate base.  This is a different type of application than the Board normally sees?

MS. WALDING:  I don't think I can even say most of the applications, because I even look at Hydro One's Sault Ste. Marie and also that application had a similar construct as us.  So I can't really speak to most, no.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And Ms. Tidmarsh, are you aware -- and you were more involved in the Ontario energy regulatory role than I would assume Ms. Walding is?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Actually, Ms. Walding is quite versed while we were putting together this application, and so I would agree with her that we don't -- we can't opine on what the other reasons for the other applications and how they were put together, so I would agree with her that I wouldn't say most applications.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  I'll leave it at that.

The next component, as I understand it -- we can go to page 39 here, or I guess 40 -- is the income-tax expense, and I understand, I think it rounds to 600,000, but it's the 580,000 dollars with two digits amount that you see at the top of the page?  Am I correct?

MS. WALDING:  Ms. Weinstein, I'll let you speak to the income tax.

MS. WEINSTEIN:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And the reason, as I understand, that the income tax I would say is low is that you're only paying the Ontario corporate minimum tax.  Do I have that correct?

MS. WEINSTEIN:  Yes, that is correct for the test year.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so as I understand you're not paying what I would say is the usual corporate income tax of 26.5 percent, but an amount that's significantly lower, correct?

MS. WEINSTEIN:  Correct.  In the test year we expect to pay the Ontario corporate minimum tax, which equates to around 2.7 percent for the taxable portion of the partnership.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And in fact, if we go to page 45 of the compendium, my understanding is you would expect to pay that for the entire IR term.  You expect to only pay the Ontario corporate minimum tax, correct?

MS. WEINSTEIN:  Yes, that is what we understand and expect to happen over the 9 year and 9 month IR term in regards to tax.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And am I correct --


MS. WALDING:  If I could please clarify as well.  You know, and taxes could change during this time period as well, and so we have not factored that in.  We have just factored in right now the minimum taxes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  By taxes you mean tax rates may change, tax policy may change?  That's what you're referring to?

MS. WALDING:  Yes, exactly.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Am I correct, you're asking for a variance account with respect to that tax policy change, tax rate change?  Do I have that right?

MS. WEINSTEIN:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And am I correct that the reason that you're only going to be paying the Ontario corporate minimum tax is that -- during the IR term is because the capital cost allowance deductions and the loss carried forward that's created because of that due to the accelerated capital cost allowance, you'll not be in a traditional taxable position during the IR term?

MS. WEINSTEIN:  Yes, I agree with that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And am I also correct that in fact by adding Bamkushwada LP you actually reduce the Ontario corporate minimum tax that you otherwise would have paid because they are tax-exempt?

MS. WALDING:  That is correct, and we've reflected that in the revenue requirement as well.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.  Let me just quickly ask you about some of the DVAs that you're requesting just so I can understand them.  If we go to page 14.  So the first is with respect to the taxes or payment in lieu of variance account, which I understand is essentially the same as the generic OEB account 1592 with one exception.  Do I have that correct?

MS. WALDING:  Yes, that's correct.

MS. WEINSTEIN:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And the one difference, as I understand, is reflected in the third bullet point under paragraph 1 here, which is if the tax impact resulting from changes in the tax-exemption status of the partners of NextBridge.  That's the difference?

MS. WALDING:  Yes.  This is Ms. Walding.  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And just so I understand what that -- I just want to clarify what that is.  Is that if the Bamkushwada LP loses its tax-exempt status or if for example say they don't buy into the partnership -- to the NextBridge partnership at all or there is a delay.  Which is it covering?  Is it covering both situations or is it only covering if something happens and they become a taxable entity?

MS. WALDING:  It is including both situations, and it is because, you know, we have included in our revenue requirement no taxes for the BLP partners, and so to the extent that they are not able to buy in or to the extent at some point they lose their tax status, then it does make the partnership aware of revenues they are collecting are not sufficient to cover that, because we did go ahead and include the tax exemptions associated with BLP.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Go to page 16.  So this is another account you're seeking?  This is a revenue differential expected to be incurred prior to in-service March 31st, 2022 variance account, the revenue variance?  Do you see that?

MS. WALDING:  Yes, I do see that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And this captures the difference between the forecasted in-service date and when the actual line goes into service.  Do I have that correct?

MS. WALDING:  You have that correct, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so if it's delayed it becomes a credit to customers and if it comes into service earlier it's a debit to the utility, correct?

MS. WALDING:  Correct, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And can I ask, what does in-service mean for the purposes of this account?

MS. WALDING:  It means when the project is useful, used and useful to customers.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can I ask what that means?  So let me give you an example.  As I understand the -- you -- for the line to flow electricity certain -- Hydro One needs to do certain upgrade works and construction works with respect to certain of its transmission stations.  Do I have that correct?

MS. WALDING:  You have that correct, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So let me give you an example.  Imagine if they're delayed in their doing their work, and so the line cannot come into service, but NextBridge has essentially done as much as it can do.  Is the line in-service for the purposes of reporting amounts in this account?

MS. WALDING:  And I'm going to ask Mr. Mayers to speak to the technical aspects of if the line is -- needs to be energized in order to do the final testing and everything like that that's required for the used and useful sense.

MR. MAYERS:  Yes, generally the commissioning process requires that both the fibre communicate between the substations, so HONI is going to be very interested in that, because the protection of the line is going to be tied to the fibre being in-service, as well as the energization of the line itself.  You're going to want to gen it up to ensure you don't have any particular issues along the line.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So I guess going back to my question, under the scenario I just provided, you've done all you can do and Hydro One hasn't done all that they can do and they're delayed.  Is the line in-service or not for the purposes of reporting amounts in this deferral account?

MS. WALDING:  The line would not be used and useful from an accounting perspective because of what Mr. Mayers just covered, that there's testing that needs to occur to ensure the safe operation of the line, and so we can't call it used and useful if it's not actually operating.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  So in that point of view the NextBridge line would be delayed.

MS. WALDING:  Yes, it would be.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  Thank you very much.  That's helpful.  If I can ask you to turn to page 17.  This is the construction cost variance account.  And as I understand what this will track is the difference between the approved capital cost in 2022 and the actuals.  Do I have that correct?

MS. WALDING:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then I think you've talked about this in your presentation.  You'll seek to clear that account in the future, the second --


MS. WALDING:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- annual update?

MS. WALDING:  That is correct, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so as I understand, it has to do a number of things.  The first is it will capture the cost related to COVID-19, correct?

MS. WALDING:  That is correct, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And it will also capture any other increases or decreases in cost that are not related to COVID-19, correct?

MS. WALDING:  That is correct, because we have locked our, you know, what we have put in application, that our current forecast construction cost, 737.1, and so it will pick up any variance of any differences in construction costs between that number and what the final construction costs are when we go in-service in 2022.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I took it from the presentation this morning that the reason that you're not segregating the COVID-related costs into account 1509, the Board's generic account, as I understood Ms. Tidmarsh to say, was because it was your understanding that account was for transmitters who already have rates?  Did I catch that correctly?

MS. WALDING:  Yes, and so we don't have rates yet, and so that really can't be used as an adjustment to our cost.  What we're really spending is actual construction costs or capital costs on this project, and even the COVID-19 costs.  So from accounting perspective -- and Ms. Weinstein can talk a little bit more about that -- it is more applicable to keep them in the CWIP account.  Ms. Weinstein?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I think you're on mute, Ms. Weinstein.

MS. WEINSTEIN:  You can hear me now, correct?

MS. WALDING:  Yes.

MS. WEINSTEIN:  As Ms. Walding was mentioning, the costs we're incurring right now during the construction phase are all capital construction related costs to get the line to the point of being used and useful.  So at this point in time, they are being recorded as CWIP.

Once the line is in service and those incremental capital costs related to COVID generates the delta in the revenue requirement and having the rates we're discussing setting right now and what they would have been had those capital costs been included, that would also be included in this construction cost variance account once we're at the point when there actually is a difference in earnings to be recorded.

But at this point in time, everything we're spending right now is actual CWIP.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then the third bullet point on page 17 here, the third set of sort of envelope of cost, I take it, is costs you've called directly associated with construction that extend past the in-service date, such as Environmental costs as a result of commitments in the OPB and/or amended EA for construction monitoring and mitigation that are not already accounted for in the construction costs, i.e. environmental costs of a million dollars that were included, but occur post in-service date because they were known and quantifiable amounts.  Do you see that?

MS. WALDING:  Yes.  So we can explain a little bit more of that, too.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That would be helpful for me.

MS. WALDING:  Ms. Weinstein, do you want talk a little bit more about the costs we're going to incur post?

I just want to clarify before I turn it over to Ms. Weinstein.  All these costs we're asking to put in the construction cost variance account are costs related only to construction.  So we are not asking to put any other costs in there, besides what's related to construction and the environmental -- environmental aspects of completing this project.

So I'll turn it over to Ms. Weinstein and maybe also Mr. Raffenberg to talk about what exactly those costs are.

MS. WEINSTEIN:  The costs expected to be incurred to comply with and satisfy all requirements from the overall benefits permit or OVP in the amended environmental assessment or EA, those are expected to occur during construction and up to even ten years out.

So the way we bifurcated those are costs that are going to be incurred to satisfy those requirements from the permits we needed to do our construction will be part of the construction phase and are in the 737.1 million.

Costs outside of the construction phase from a timing perspective, and those that are not exactly known due to environmental factors that are unknown at this time -- and that Mr. Raffenberg can elaborate on -- would propose using the construction cost variance account to track and then seek recovery of for those.

For example, if the permit requires us to do something 3 years after the in-service date, we would propose capturing that activity in this variance account and then seeking disposition of it at the end of the IR term.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Are they capital costs post in service from an accounting point of view?  This is the part I got confused about.  I understand you want to record -- go ahead.

MS. WEINSTEIN:  Okay.  The understanding is all of these costs related to these two main permits, the overall benefits permit and the amended EA, those are all due to construction and a direct result of receiving a permit which was necessary to begin construction of the line.

So we could not do construction without these permits, and we can not satisfy these permits without performing all the requirement that is have this up to a ten year span of requirements.

So our position is that these are all due to and directly related to the initial construction of the line are understood to be capital costs.

MS. WALDING:  And additionally, I'll also add to what Ms. Weinstein said, is we did not include any of these costs in our operating cost as well, and there will definitely be ongoing costs to this project that are due to those permits.

Mr. Raffenberg, would you please add a little bit of colour to what these kinds of costs can be?

MR. RAFFENBERG:  Yes.  Good morning.  Can you hear me okay?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.

MR. RAFFENBERG:  The overall benefits permit, as Ms. Tidmarsh said, is a first of its kind.  There are some known knowns.  There are some things that we know we have to do today and are already taking action.  For example, we have done surveys with helicopters and we're monitoring ice bridges for animals moving across Lake Superior to islands.

But there are some unknowns still.  We are working throughout what's called a caribou transfer strategy plan with the two ministries involved, the MECP and -- Ministry of Environment, Conservation and Parks and MNRF, Ministry of Natural Resources and Forestry, as well as our First Nations partners in Michipicoten.  And we're working through a plan that satisfies the Ministry's concern as well as the biological and spiritual concerns of the First Nations.

As a result, there are a lot of variables we can't pin down today.  For example, we are charged with moving 12 caribou, eight females and four males, from islands on Lake Superior to another island, Michipicoten Island in Lake Superior.  We cannot move animals until there is a suitable population.  We can't just take animals and leave one behind so there's not enough animals there.  So that's a variable we can't pin down today.  We can't pin down when we are going to be able to move those caribou, when there's going to be enough to stay.

Another variable is, for example, we can't move caribou to an island where there's predators, and we can't pin down today when Michipicoten Island is going to be site-approved.

There's a series of variables I can go through that we can't pin down today.  But we are working with our ministry partners as well as the Michipicoten to get to a plan that we can execute on.  That's why today we can't tell you exactly when these costs are going to happen and why we can't do the work today.  It's something that needs to happen likely in the next ten years.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can I go back to something Ms. Walding said?  You said you didn't include those amounts in the OM&A.  I just want to understand from -- understanding these costs are going to materialize, my question is did you not include them because they are capital costs and thus you cannot include them in your OM&A?  This goes back to the question I asked previously; are these capital costs?

MS. WALDING:  So they can be capital costs.  It really kind of depends a lot on how the regulator views them.  So that is a part of it, as well as if they're directly related to the project being constructed of which they were.

So there's different factors that go into saying whether or not they're capital costs or not.  But one thing is for certain is they are not included in our OM&A budget, and they are not included because they change dramatically through time.

You would expect that as you get further out into the ten years, they would go down as long as all the monitoring has gone as you expected.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we can turn to page 19 --


MR. ELSAYED:  Sorry to interrupt.  We had planned to take our second morning break about this time.  Would that be a good time, Mr. Rubenstein, to take a break?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we can hold off for five minutes and I can finish an area, and it would be cleaner.  But I can take a break whenever you want.

I just lastly want to talk about the debt rate variance account.  As I understand it, you plan -- NextBridge plans to go to market with a debt offering, or some sort of debt financing before the line goes into service at the end of March 2022.  Do I have that correct?

MS. WALDING:  The timing of that will probably be right near the in-service date.  It may not be before.  So that's the only clarification, but yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And as I understand it, the account will capture the difference between the deemed amount that is built into the base revenue requirement and the actual amount, correct?

MS. WALDING:  That is correct, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And as I think you answered to me earlier on today, this will be both the long-term and the short-term debt component?

MS. WALDING:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then the actual debt rate, that could be higher or lower.  We don't know at this time, correct?

MS. WALDING:  Yes, that's all due to how the market moves between now and then on interest rates, and so that's very unpredictable at this point.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can I ask you about what you're expecting that debt to look like?  Can you provide some insight there?

MS. WALDING:  Can you clarify a little bit more for me about what you mean by what the debt looks like?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, can you tell me how you plan to -- from your perspective what type of a -- let's talk about long-term component.  What is that debt going to look like?  Is it going to be a -- what is the amortization period?  Is it a fixed or variable rate?  What is your expectation in terms of the structure?

MS. WALDING:  Yes, and so we did respond, I think, to one of the IRs with this.  Ms. Weinstein, do you recall the IR so that we can pull it up?

MS. WEINSTEIN:  I don't, but if you give me one moment I can locate it.

MS. WALDING:  Okay.  I'll go ahead and talk through it while she's locating it --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, I asked you a one question at SEC 15 about this, and to be honest, there was not really enough -- a lot of information provided in your response.

MS. WALDING:  Okay.  Maybe I'm unclear what you're looking for.  We're expecting to do a private placement.  We have several banks already ready to take care -- to take place in the procurement of that debt, and we are planning on doing it in tranches that reflect the expiration of debt as you go through time to maintain the 60 percent debt capital structure, and so the tranches will be placed in a way such to maintain that capital structure.

We expect the interest rate to be fixed, and it will be based off of the tranche, so as you can imagine, say a 5-year note is a different interest rate than a 20-year note, and so that is the structure.  Is that what you were looking for, Mr. Rubenstein?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes, that's very helpful.  Can you help me understand, is the structure -- and you're talking about doing it in different structures because over time there will be less -- the debt component to stay to the capital structure will be reduced over time?

MS. WALDING:  Yes, it is.  Except, you know, to the extent that you spend capital such that you need more debt, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And is that because the rate base is declining?

MS. WALDING:  Yes, that is.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  Thank you very much.  This is a good time for a break.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.  So now it is 11:55, so we'll break until 12:05.  See you then.  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 11:55 a.m.
--- On resuming at 12:08 p.m.


MR. ELSAYED:  Welcome back, everyone.  And back to you, Mr. Rubenstein.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.  I would like to talk about the IR structure and some of the components of the plan.  Am I correct this is a custom IR application?

MS. WALDING:  You are correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Would you agree with me that one of the overarching objectives of a custom IR application for really any rate setting method is that it should incent the utility to operate efficiently, and at the same time, provide it an opportunity to earn a fair rate of return?

MS. WALDING:  Yes, that is correct, and we do believe the structure of -- the way we have structured our OM&A is incenting us to operate efficiently, because the OM&A that we have included in our application is very minimal.  As you can see from the benchmarking, it's very competitive and already very minimal.

So we do expect we are going to have to be very innovative throughout our IR period in order to even maintain cost that are even close to that.

So I can ask Mr. Mayers to kind of add-on to --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I'm sorry.  I would like you to answer my questions.  We are going to get to all of that, I promise.  But I only have you for a certain amount of time and I need to get your issues out of the way, so you can get vaccinated.

Would you agree with me that in the context of this application when we talk about a fair rate of return, we're talking about the Board's deemed rate that you're seeking to include in base rates, that's the 8.2 percent?

MS. WALDING:  That is the rate that we are including, but there is a custom incentive rate structure that does allow -- if the utilities are innovative in managing their costs, it does allow them to achieve more than their OEB-approved ROE.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If you are more efficient, you can earn a higher rate of return?

MS. WALDING:  Yes.  That's why I bring up the OM&A and how it is so minimal and what's in our test year that we've put together.  So that's why I'm saying we have to be innovative to come anywhere close that.

That's why I want at some point Mr. Mayers to talk about the risks of doing operations and maintenance on a 450 kilometre line throughout the Northwestern Ontario.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I promise Mr. Mayers I have a lot of questions about that for him.

As I understand then, to accomplish both those things we've talked about -- which is incent the utility and allow you an opportunity to earn a fair rate of return -- you have structured your proposal to allow you to do that by increasing all elements of the base revenue requirement by the I minus X formula, correct?

MS. WALDING:  That is correct.  And as we talked about in our presentation as well, a lot of the OM&A already has inflation built into it that does exceed the 2 percent.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  As we discussed --


MS. WALDING:  Sorry.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  As we discussed, the inflation is at 2 percent, the X factor is at zero percent.  So it's increasing it by 2 percent a year, the base revenue requirement?

MS. WALDING:  That's right, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we can turn now to page 55 of that compendium, we asked you in SEC 7 -- we wanted to understand your proposal was to provide us a table that shows for each year from 2022 to 2031 rate term plan, A, the amount of revenue expected to be collected based on your proposal, and then B, the amount to be collected if you were using a cost of service methodology, and we asked you to assume the OM&A increases annually at your assumed rate of inflation of 2 percent.

And in your response, part A you point to us Exhibit E, tab 1, which is similar to the table I took you to that showed the revenue requirement, and B, you said you were unable to forecast the future OEB cost of capital plan that is needed to answer the question.  Do you see that?

MS. WALDING:  Yes, I do.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we can turn to page 56 --


MS. WALDING:  May I comment on part B?  So in part B under cost-of-service application -- of which I manage a lot of cost-of-service applications -- the ROE changes throughout time.  And so it changes as the capital cost parameters that are driven by the market change, as well as the OM&A is a pass-through.

So that is the reason why, number one, we answered that we're unable to predict it.  So if we were using a cost of service methodology, we don't know what the cost of capital parameters would be throughout the ten-year IR period we have, as well as the pass-through of OM&A cost.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I wasn't critiquing your response.  I just want to make sure I understand it.  So we can move to page 56 so the Panel will understand what I've done in this interrogatory.

So what we've attempted do in this table -- and I'll walk the panel through this table -- is we've essentially tried to answer SEC 7 by making two assumptions.  One is the assumption laid out in the interrogatory which asks about inflating the OM&A by the inflation amount, the 2 percent that you have included in your application.  And second was to essentially hold the cost of capital component rates components flat for the entire plan.  So the rates for ROE long-term debt and short-term debt remain the same as they are set out in the application.

And we provided this table, and if you quickly flip to page 57, there's the sort of more detailed nitty-gritty of all the math to get there.  We provided it to NextBridge last week with a small correction that they provided -- and I've highlighted that on page 57 -- you agree with the math that this table shows.  Do I have that correct?

MS. WALDING:  I don't understand what you want me to say in terms of the -- just the math itself, or the result of the math?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, the math.  So as I understand, you would agree -- let's go to page 56 and I'll ask you about that, maybe that's easier.

So going back to 56, so what this shows is based on those assumptions that I made -- I am not asking you to agree with my assumptions about OM&A increasing at 2 percent and the cost of capital parameters staying flat.

You would agree with me that that would equally -- if we go to line 23, that would be the annual revenue requirement based on the information in your application if you use those two assumptions?  Do you agree with that?

MS. WALDING:  I don't know.  I'm still -- I really apologize, but I'm not following you.  The two assumptions?  What are the two --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Your OM&A increases at 2 percent a year; that's assumption one that we've included.  And the second is that the cost of capital parameters that are embedded in the 2020 application remain the same for all the other years.

MS. WALDING:  Yes, I can see you included those two assumptions and under those assumptions, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  The annual revenue requirements on line 23, correct, based on those assumptions?

MS. WALDING:  You're asking for -- line 23 is what you're saying is a cost of service type approach?  Is that what you're trying to say?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You can call it whatever you want.  But based on -- let's call it a cost of service based on those two assumptions that I provided.

MS. WALDING:  Okay.  I can agree that looks about right, subject to check.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we flip to page 57 just so we understand, this includes not just the rate base and opening rate base, but includes the additional expenditures you're proposing.  I've included that in the calculation, the planned additional --


The analysis on this table includes the additional planned TSB expenditures, correct?

MS. WALDING:  Correct, those are the capital expenditures we've included to the TSB.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let's go back to page 56.  If we look at line 27, this is your proposal, correct?  This is the revenue requirement that you will be -- that if approved, you will be recovering from ratepayers over the 9 years 9 months, correct?

MS. WALDING:  This, I think, makes a lot of assumptions.  So I can't say that every year, no, that this is the revenue requirement that we're going to be receiving because as an example, you know, we have a 300-basis-point assumption that we would be called in for regulatory review.  So we don't ever believe that we're going to be making 300 basis points.

So that is not included in your analysis and so no, I cannot agree that this is the amount of revenues we would receive over the time period, because we would fully expect to have a rate review and have our rates reset if we earned outside of that debt band.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So it's the amount you're seeking for approval in this application, correct?

MS. WALDING:  That it does not have what we've asked for in terms of earnings band on our application, and so it doesn't have all that factored in.  Plus, I would also say it's just a spreadsheet.  It's not going to take into account what our real OM&A escalation is, as well as our OM&A exposure on the project.

And so, you know, from a spreadsheet perspective you can say that this is what we are going -- what we're asking for, but we don't at all believe that that's what is going to materialize, because there are a lot of assumptions, as you have pointed out, in this as well.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, line 27 is your -- well, maybe I can ask you to flip to page 6 of the compendium.  Line 27 is the exact same thing, with the exception of 2022, which is on a 912 basis.  It is the base revenue requirement that is set out here.  Are you trying to tell me that those numbers are not actually what you're seeking approval for in this application?

MS. WALDING:  No, I'm just saying that there's a lot of other factors.  You can say that this is the base revenue requirement we've requested, but it doesn't take into account a lot of the other factors of, not only on our cost, as well as on our debt band of 300 basis points that we've asked for.

So, yes, this is very much the 1 -- the 2 percent increased over time, but I wouldn't say that that's definitely what the project is going to get as the revenue, because there are some other triggers.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sure, but I think your expectation I thought is you're not going to get 300 basis points, so shouldn't this -- isn't this your best estimate of what the revenue requirement that you're going to recover is at this time?

MS. WALDING:  I think at this point this is the best estimate, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  So go back to page 56.  And the total at line 27 is 596.2 million dollars.  Do you see that?  Do you agree with that number?

MS. WALDING:  Yes, I do see that, subject to check, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so now if you look at line 23, this is the proposal.  It's based on SEC's analysis that we just talked about.  Do you see that?

MS. WALDING:  I do see that, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so we start at the same starting point in 2022.  That's the 55.7 base revenue requirement based on an April 1, 2022 in-service date, and that would be the 41.8 million dollars.  Do you see that?

MS. WALDING:  I do see that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But based on the two assumptions that I talked about about the OM&A increasing at the 2 percent and cost-of-capital parameters are the same throughout the period, do you see that the total revenue requirement is 528.1 million dollars?

MS. WALDING:  There are a lot of factors, as I pointed out, and originally, when you were explaining this as a cost-of-service type analysis, is number one, the ROE is locked down for our entire IR term, and we are using a custom incentive rate formula, whereas if you want to really compare it to a real cost-of-service application you need to be increasing your ROE over time, because as history would repeat itself this is an historically low ROE through time, and not only that, you would also need to potentially increase it for OM&A costs that are a pass-through.

So I can't agree with you that this is a fair analysis to put forward as a comparison to our rates.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I'm not asking you to compare it to tell me if it's compared.  I just want to make sure I'm reading the table correctly, we have an understanding what the table is.  Based on this analysis, which I understand you don't agree with, fair enough, it's not what your application is.  I understand that.  The total is 528.1 million dollars under the, what I would call the SEC 7 analysis.  Do you see that?

MS. WALDING:  Yeah, I would call that a cost of service, you know, which doesn't reflect a lot of factors correctly and is not what we applied for.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And as I look at this analysis, you see that the total annualized revenue requirement declines.  Do you see that?

MS. WALDING:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Line 23?  And the increases, as I understand -- and you can see this at line 16 -- primarily because the total capital revenue requirement declines because the rate base declines.  Do you see that?

MS. WALDING:  I do see that, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And would you take it subject to check that if I take the difference of what I would call the NextBridge proposal at line 27, 596.2 million, versus what I would call the SEC 7 analysis of 528.1 million dollars, that's a difference of about 68.1 million dollars?  Take that subject to check?

MS. WALDING:  Subject to check.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And it's about 13 percent more.  Would you take that subject to check?

MS. WALDING:  Subject to check, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if we compare those two, would you agree with me that if we look at sort of year by year the difference between line 27 and line 23, the gap between those years increases over time?

MS. WALDING:  Yes, it does.  But I also have told you, like, it does not reflect our OM&A cost that we expect to have during this time period as well.  I'm not sure that --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And can --


MS. WALDING:  Go ahead.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No, I'm sorry, I interrupted you.  I didn't mean to.  Okay.  Thank you.  And this makes sense that it increases, because under the SEC 7 analysis on line 23 the revenue requirement decreases and under the next proposal the revenue requirement increases by 2 percent a year?

MS. WALDING:  That is correct.  That is what we have applied for under the custom incentive rate formula because of the risks of this project of managing it in the northwestern Ontario for 450 kilometres and our ability to try to get better over a 10-year term of what we proposed to gain efficiencies and innovation during that time period.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can I ask you to flip to page 57.  Can we go all the way back down to page 56 and 57 -- sorry, line 56 and line 57?  Try to zoom in on that part there.  If we can zoom in a little bit more.  There you go.

This is just a different way of looking at what we were just talking about on page 56.  You see the forecast revenue requirement on an annualized basis on line 56 based on the SEC 7 analysis and the NextBridge proposal on line 57.  Do you see that?

MS. WALDING:  I see that, yeah.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then on the -- if we go to the far right-hand side you see the 2022 to 2026 revenue requirement, that difference, the totals, and we see the footnote 3, that includes the 912, so 2022.  Do you see that?

MS. WALDING:  I see that, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then we see the next column over we have the 2027 to the 2031, so the second 5 years, or the second half of the plan, I should say.  Do you see that?

MS. WALDING:  Yes, I see that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then we have the full 9 year and 9 month in the last.  Do you see that?

MS. WALDING:  Yes, I see that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Would you agree with me if we look at just the 5 years, the first -- or 4 years, 9 months, the difference between the NextBridge proposal on line 57 of 276 and the SEC 7 analysis on line 56 is about 14-and-a-half million dollars?  Do you see that?

MS. WALDING:  Yes, I see that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then in the second 5 years the difference between the 320 under the NextBridge proposal, approximately, and the 266.5, that's about 53.5 million dollars difference?

MS. WALDING:  Subject to check, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  And if we take a look at line 59 and 60, what we've done is calculated what the ROE is based on line 56, based on the calculations, and on line 60 we took the NextBridge ROE based on the revenue requirement that we'd be seeking, but based on the cost in the SEC analysis.  Do you see that?

MS. WALDING:  I see that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And what it shows is you see for the line 59 for the SEC 7 analysis is, where it says forecast ROE, we have a flat 8.52 ROE.  Do you see that?

MS. WALDING:  I do see that, but Mr. Rubenstein, I'll go ahead and remind you, I mean, I manage cost-of-service utilities throughout North America, and I can tell you that the ROE that you're reflecting there is just part of the story, and so in all the cost-of-service utilities that I manage, all of their OM&A cost is 100 percent pass-through, so by doing this comparison you're ignoring that the ROE is not the full picture of utilities and the way that they're managed.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Oh, and I agree.  Insofar as your OM&A is higher than your forecast, that would lower the ROE, all things else being equal, correct?

MS. WALDING:  No, that's not correct, not in a cost-of-service application.  In a cost-of-service application, your OM&A costs are 100 percent pass-through.  So there isn't is a disallowance, whereas there could be on our proposal.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry.  Imagine the Board approved today line 59 or the SEC 7 analysis for all the years, insofar as your OM&A is higher than the 2 percent, all else being equal, you'll have a lower than the 8.25 ROE?

MS. WALDING:  That is correct, but that's not a true cost-of-service model.  A true cost-of-service model is a pass through of the OM&A costs, such that you do achieve at least 8.52 percent ROE.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let's call it a SEC 7 analysis instead of cost of service, because that's based on the assumptions.

If we go to line 60, we use the ROE based on NextBridge's forecast revenue as compared to the cost in the SEC 7 analysis.  As we talked about, the cost of capital parameters are the same and the OM&A increases,  you see the ROE starts at 8.52 because that's built into the base rates.  But based on this, it increases each year.  Do you see that?

MS. WALDING:  I see that, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  It increases up to 13.57 in 2031.

MS. WALDING:  Yes.  This is where I also told you that we also have in our application the 300 basis point debt band.  So we do not believe that we would actually get to 13.57.  We actually believe that in 2028, we would hit that trigger and if this was what came about, we would be subject to a rate review with the OEB.  


So no, we don't have any expectation of having 13.57.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Is it your expectation that when the Board does that rate review, it will automatically require to you reset your rates or change your rates?

What's your understanding of what the expectation is when you hit that 300 basis point?

MS. WALDING:  It would be a rate review by the OEB and they would decide whether or not we would be subject to a rebasing at that point.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But below 300 basis points, no review?

MS. WALDING:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Do I take it that the big reason that you disagree with the SEC 7 analysis, or any rate proposal that utilized the numbers here, is that -- and I take it from a lot of the conversations that we were talking about earlier on is that your expectation is that the cost pressures NextBridge faces are above the 2 percent annual OM&A increase?

MS. WALDING:  Definitely.  But also the 8.52 doesn't provide any incentive for the utility to get better.  The 8.52 is a cost of service.  I know you would like to keep calling it a SEC 7, but under those kind of models, the OM&A cost is 100 percent pass through.  So that's why we're in custom incentive rate regulation is we want to be chanced to try to get it better through this time period and not just have a pass through, because that doesn't incent the utility to get better through time.

And that is why the OEB and the Board has a different rate structure than a cost-of-service model as you're proposing here.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Leaving aside what the rate structure looks like, if the Board provided you under whatever they want to call it the amounts that are the SEC 7 numbers, right, a negative amount to your base revenue requirement, whatever they call it, I took it from what you said earlier today that the reason that's not appropriate for NextBridge is that the cost pressures you are facing are higher than the difference between your proposal and what I call the SEC 7 proposal.

So that gap, that 68.1 million dollar gap we talk about from the numbers, your cost pressures are going to equal that?

MS. WALDING:  I'm not saying they are going to equal that.  That would be -- we would be unable to predict it's equal of that.

I do believe we have more cost pressures on this project than what is reflected in our costs for our test year, and by far.   This is a very large project and very
-- it covers a substantial amount of ground.

And I'll also add, too, another thing that is -- the difficult thing about managing this project is that it is one line and this isn't like a utility that has multiple different projects going on, and multiple different assets that it can exchange costs over.

So as an example, if a utility that has a large number of lines, if they have in one year a certain amount of failure go on, then they might take money from a substation project and spend it on the line.  But this project is a lot harder to manage because it is one project.  So to the extent that we have events go on -- which both Mr. Raffenberg and Mr. Mayers can talk about -- this project has to eat all of those costs.  There isn't another -- this is a single line, a single asset.  There isn't another place to kind of shift costs from like you have on an overall utility.

So to the extent that this line has cost pressures, it's only in this line that you can recover those costs through this rate structure that we have proposed.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Am I correct that your expectation or your target is 8.5, 2 percent ROE every year on the proposal?

MS. WALDING:  The target is at least a 8.52 is the way I would put it, because the custom incentive framework allows you to be innovative through time and potentially earn more as if we're -- in your example here, if we were able to, you know, keep our costs down this much -- which I don't think that we could -- then maybe we would have the ability to over earn under the custom incentive framework.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Based on all the things you know right now, the best information you have today that is before us, do you expect that you will achieve an ROE above 8.52 percent?

MS. WALDING:  In some years, I think there is a possibility we could.  Not throughout the entire time period, no.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Putting aside 2022, which is the base year.  In the other years, 2023 through 2031, is your expectation that based on your rate setting proposal and your knowledge what your costs and the cost pressures and all that, your expectation is you will achieve an ROE above 8.52 percent?

MS. WALDING:  I disagree with that.  And 8.52 is our expectation and we are going to try to manage to that -- to the extent that we can manage to have something greater than that, then that's great.  But, you know, our expectation is the 8.52.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So the cost that are in what I call the SEC 7 analysis, the costs I showed you, if your ROE expectation is 8.52 percent each year, and as I understand your debt rate is going -- you're going to go Out -- you're going to go out and have a fixed debt rate built into the rates, it seems to me that the difference between the 596 under your proposal and the 528, the reason -- as I understand it, you think that your costs will come closer to the 596 and not the 528 is because there are cost pressures that are not included in the cost in the table that I have provided in SEC 7.

That's what I took away from what you're saying.  Do you disagree?

MS. WALDING:  No, I'm not disagreeing with that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So then really the 68.1 million dollars is your costs are going to be -- let's say your OM&A costs are going to be substantially higher than 2 percent a year increase?

MS. WALDING:  Yes. I'm saying that they could be, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  When you say could be, many things could be.  Is it your expectation that the OM&A costs will be substantially higher annual increases than 2 percent --


MR. VEGH:  If I can interrupt?   Ms. Walding has offered Mr. Mayers to provide evidence on what they expect the cost pressures to be two or three times, and Mr. Rubenstein has always deferred that.  This may be a good time to find out what those cost pressures are.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That's fine with me.  I don't have a problem with Mr. Mayers also answering this question.

MS. WALDING:  Mr. Mayers, you're probably on mute.

MR. MAYERS:  I'm no longer on mute.  Yeah, I mean there is no question we're going to have cost pressures.

As we've already discussed, 450 kilometres of very rugged terrain, very inhospitable weather, difficult access, our intention is to do what we can to improve the long-term O&M cost structure.

We talk about in our interrogatory responses looking at ways to minimize costs going forward, things like cameras, capital improvements on using cameras.  Adding to -- install bird discouragers.  You know, one of the main outage -- one of the main issues you could have on long transmission line, particularly around water, is you have a lot of birds and you have a lot of raptors and you have migrating birds, all of which is -- has shown up in our environmental assessment.  And so we're going to have to take precaution to ensure that we maintain the health of those birds while also keeping this line reliably connected.  To do that we are going to have to install bird discouragers in certain places where the birds may roost, where they may nest.  Those are the kind of pressures that we're going to see, and we don't know that yet.

The line is not in-service.  We don't know what the impact is going to be.  If we have nests all of a sudden appear or -- you know, the concern is that, as they're building nests, the bird actually brings sticks, twigs, whatever, and he goes face the ground between -- you know, by dropping the stick next to an energized conductor.  If we have a nest and it's a raptor we may have to relocate it.

So, you know, that's just birds.  And we talked a little bit already about, you know, the cameras, the situational awareness that we require to have for operations.

Fires are going to be a potential cause of outages, so to try to eliminate that we want to be able to see down into the right of way and get notice well in advance.

Vandalism.  Vandalism is a big issue, particularly here, in locations where you have lots of hunting.  Bored hunters like to shoot insulators sometimes.  We have seen that all over in our vegetation management plans throughout the country, particularly here in Florida.

So, you know, the combination of what we're seeing as potential scenarios that could arise, tornado, any one -- ice storms.  Any one of these items could take a significant amount of mitigation to put the line back in-service.

So we don't have a lot set aside in this -- the OM&A portion of the overall budget to accommodate that, but, you know, our intention is to try to integrate new technologies to try to help us get smarter and better and more efficient over time, but there are so many things that can actually occur on this project again due to its remoteness and its distance away.

MS. WALDING:  And also -- oh, go ahead.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Just to follow up on that question, you talk about the bird deterrents and the right-of-way cameras.  Am I correct in your transmission system plan, the capital transmission system plan, you've allocated funds to -- for those issues, correct?

MR. MAYERS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  And with respect to a tornado or an ice storm that has a very significant impact, am I correct that under your rate plan you're eligible for a Z factor?

MS. WALDING:  That is correct.  Some of the stuff Mr. Mayers was talking about would be underneath the threshold that is allowed for the Z factor, and so as example, like removing a bird nest and relocating it would probably be -- I don't know, Mr. Mayers, can you give an approximate amount of what that would be?

MR. MAYERS:  No, I mean, honestly, no, but, I mean, if you just think in terms of, we would have to apply for environmental permits to remove the nests, and we'd have to go through to Mr. Raffenberg's team to get the notifications made, and then we would have to set up an adequate location for the nest, then we'd actually have to take the line out of service and get a crew out there to actually remove the nest.  All those things would be done under specific conditions and time frames.  If there happened to be a bird on the nest with a -- let's just say it was an eagle, and it was an eaglet on the nest.  We can't touch it, we can't be anywhere around it for a certain period of time, so, I mean, assuming we could move it when we would like to move it, you know, it could get expensive, yes.

MS. WALDING:  And then also to, Mr. Mayers, you talked about a lot of the clearing and a lot of the shooting of the arrestors, and can you talk a little bit more about some of those items too that can occur that are below the Z factor of 278,000 that Mr. Rubenstein brought up?

MR. MAYERS:  Well, yeah, just for instance, just back to the hunters -- and I'm not saying every hunter gets bored and starts shooting insulators, but I've seen enough of them to know that that -- it does occur.  We have both glass insulators on our project and composite insulators.  The composite insulators are silicon rubber.  And so you can shoot one of them and it won't shatter.  What it'll do is you will perforate the surface, and then if you get moisture intrusion inside of it, it could cause a flash-over.

You could have a lightning strike on this line, so our operations centre is going to have lightning detection data.  Let's say a thunderstorm rolls over the Thunder Bay area and works its way northeast over our line, we see two lightning strikes that appear to hit the line, we either see a Relay action on the line or we don't, but our lightning data will be coordinated to show approximate location of where the lightning strike was.  We will have to send a crew out there to look at it to ensure that it wasn't damaged enough that it's one -- if it was the OPGW that had the protection fibres between both Thunder Bay and Marathon, then HONI is going to be very interested about it, so we are going to have to ensure that the optical ground wire may have been damaged, but we can leave it in-service for the time being, or we're going to have to do some remediation immediately.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can I ask this question, Mr. Mayers or Ms. Walding?  Is it your view that 2 percent increase on OM&A is not realistic?  That's what I've taken away from much of the discussion this morning.  What do you think your OM&A is actually going to increase annually?

MS. WALDING:  Well, number one, it's a minimal OM&A, and so the factors that are based into it will definitely increase by 3 percent, but none of that 3 percent -- that's just the base increases.  None of that includes any of the other things that Mr. Mayers has talked about.  And I would also like to ask Ms. Weinstein, if you can tell us --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, no, Ms. Walding, I asked a specific question.  My question is this:  If you don't think 2 percent is the reasonable amount, what do you think is a percentage that would reflect your actual OM&A increases over year?

MS. WALDING:  I think it's going to be lumpy.  I don't think it's going to be a set amount.  I think, like I said, in the question I just answered for you, it's the minimal, will be 3 percent.  That would be the minimal.  And so what I was going to ask Ms. Weinstein to tell us is that the amount of it that is not -- that is -- almost all of it is a fixed amount, so we have very little variable amount that's included in our OM&A cost to do the things that Mr. Mayers talked about, so almost everything that is in our OM&A budget is set, such as employees, what we're going to be paying Hydro One, what our audit fees are, what our insurance is.

And so the amount, Ms. Weinstein, that we have that we can pay for all the things that Mr. Mayers has discussed with us is -- could you tell us?

MS. WEINSTEIN:  Sure, the component that Ms. Walding is referring to of the O&M component of the OM&A is roughly about 170,000 dollars to follow up on findings and those activities Mr. Mayers was discussing.  Everything else is essentially fixed and earmarked for a known activity that we already know we have to perform.

MS. WALDING:  So all the fixed items are increasing by 3 percent, but we don't know what this amount is that we could be subject to, and all we have that's a little bit extra to spend is 170,000 dollars.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Just so I understand what that 170,000 -- is that -- that's with respect to the issues Mr. Mayers just spoke to, so the hunters shooting at the line, and moving bird nests and those sorts of activities, generally?  Sorry, I'm providing you two specific examples, but those types of unexpected -- unexpected -- that's what the 170 that's built into the OM&A budget is referring to?

MS. WALDING:  Yes, that 170 is the estimate baked into the total 1.2 million O&M component of the OM&A budget to essentially follow up on findings, and those two examples you just mentioned would fall into that category.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  Thank you very much.  I think now is a -- is the end of an area.  I don't know if the Panel now wants to take its lunch break now or -- I'm in the Commissioners' hands --


DR. ELSAYED:  I'm just conscious of Ms. Walding's availability.  We can take the break now.  We are supposed to take about an hour.  Would that be okay, Mr. Vegh, for
-- I'm not sure how much in the afternoon Ms. Walding is available.

MR. VEGH:  Yes, thank you, sir.  Ms. Walding had planned to leave in the afternoon break, which I believe is scheduled for 2:20, and I don't know if she has any flexibility beyond that, given we're not entirely following the schedule, but I can speak to her over the lunch as to how late she can stay.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  Thank you.  So we will take the launch break now.  It's 12:50.  And we will resume at 1:50.
--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:50 p.m.
--- On resuming at 1:50 p.m.

MR. ELSAYED:  Welcome back, everyone.  So back to you, Mr. Rubenstein.

MR. VEGH:  Excuse me, Mr. Chair, just before Mr. Rubenstein continues, I had a couple of matters.  I followed up with Ms. Walding over the break and we're a bit delayed in our points here, but she's going to be able to stay until 2:40.  So if we take our break instead of 2:20, we go to 2:40, that should work fine, if that's acceptable to the panel.

And the second point I was going to make is this morning when we were doing appearances, I may have stepped on it a bit.  But I wanted to give my colleague, Brian Murphy, the opportunity to make an appearance.  He is in Florida and he is on screen.  Mr. Murphy?

MR. ELSAYED:  Sure, please.

MR. MURPHY:  Thank you, Mr. Vegh, and Commissioners.  I just wanted to make sure you had received my formal appearance for this matter.  I'm appearing on behalf of NextBridge, and also on behalf of NextBridge during the leave-to-construct proceeding that we had.  Thank you.

MR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.

MR. SARDANA:  Mr. Chair, do we need to swear in the new witness?

MR. VEGH:  He is not a witness.  He is co-counsel.

MR. SARDANA:  Understood.  My apologies.

MR. ELSAYED:  Mr. Rubenstein?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.  Panel, can I ask you to put the compendium back up on the screen.  Can I ask you to turn to page 63?  Farther down the screen, scroll down a bit -- thanks, that's fine.

Ms. Walding, this was talked -- this chart was also included in the presentation this morning, and I just want to understand what exactly you're trying to tell the panel and everybody with this.

Just so I have a clear understanding of what it is, and correct me if I'm wrong, but as I understand is what you've done is you took the cost of capital parameters built into this application, so the ROE, the long-term debt and short-term debt, and then you re-ran those numbers based on the cost of capital parameters in each of the last ten years, and the difference you get is 80.6 million dollars.  Do I have that right?

MS. WALDING:  You have that right, yes.  What it's showing is that under a ten-year period of locking in historically low ROE, as we are in our application, but if you believe the future will repeat itself, you can expect there would be a significant portion of savings for customers by locking it in for the time period.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Just so I'm clear, this table is not just showing the ROE.  It's showing the cost of capital parameters for also long-term and short-term debt, correct?

MS. WALDING:  That's right.  After we do our initial update of debt parameters, we're going to keep those consistent for the ten-year time period, too.  So after we get our debt associated with it, we're not going to be updating.  Whereas if we had a rebasing during this time period, we would be updating the debt parameters as well.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  As I understand from what you were telling me this morning with respect to the debt, you have proposals to do it in tranches over some lengthy period, but the rates will be -- they will not be variable rates, they will be fixed rates.  Do I have that right?

MS. WALDING:  Yes, they will be fixed rates.  But you do have to sometimes go out and get more tranches over time.  So you can't give a perfect amount of tranches right now, so I'm not going to be able to go and get the amount of debt that perfectly matches my depreciation.  I'm going to have to do tranches, and as they expire, I have to do new tranches, maybe in smaller amounts than the initial tranches that I have.

So you continually go out and get new tranches of different various amounts, so it does change throughout the ten year time period.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I guess the question is how much is it going to change?  Is it a significant amount?  Maybe I misunderstood how you planned to do your debt, to structure your debt.

Is my expectation that most of the debt you will get will be longer than the ten year period?

MS. WALDING:  No, that's not true.  You'll do different tranches because you'll have more debt that expires.  So if I go out, as an example, and I do debt for ten years or 20 years, then I'm going to be having too much debt.  I'm going to be having more than 60 percent debt through the time period.

So you have do it in smaller tranches.  So you have to have some that's 3, some that's 5, some that's 7, some that's 10 to try to match it as best as you can.

And then, even as a 3 expires, you might go out and do another 3, as an example, that's a smaller amount than the original 3 that you have.  But that's the way that you have to -- in a regulated world, you have to manage your debt in this fashion and it's not unique to this project.  It's in every regulated transmission project that I'm a part of.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I'm just -- I don't know if you can help me here.

My understanding is the rate base is declining.  So don't you need less debt over time?

MS. WALDING:  You do, if it is declining.  But also, too, my example is if I had a 3-year term of debt that was a part of my tranche and let's say it was for 100 million and that tranche expires, I may not need 100 million of debt to go away.  So I probably have to go back out and get another 3 years of debt that might be 80 million, after that first tranche goes away.

So you're constantly resecuring your debt, very little of it is going to have really long terms.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  When you say really long terms, what does that mean to you?

MS. WALDING:  Ten or more years.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So most of your debt is going to be sub ten years?

MS. WALDING:  I don't have the exact amounts in front of me right now.  But you don't go out -- because you see you have a declining rate base, you don't go out and secure a bunch of it for 20 years because you won't have that amount likely for 20 years.  And if you do, then you would go out and get new debt.  So you don't want to have a big portion of your debt that is in really long tranches.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we go back to page 57 --


MS. WALDING:  You would end up being over-capitalized and that's -- so this is the way that all transmission regulated utilities do it.  They go out and do it for various tranches.  And when a shorter term tranches expire, they go out and do new tranches based on -- and every time you go out and do a new debt facility, you go and do a new forecast of where you are and what capital expenditures you're planning on having at that point in time and you go and what your rate base is going to be and you go out and get new tranches of debt based off of that forecast.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, I don't mean to interrupt you.

MS. WALDING:  It varies --


MR. VEGH:  It would be helpful, Mr. Rubenstein, if you give her a few more seconds because there is a bit of a lag.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I apologize.

MR. VEGH:  You'll be talking over each other less.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I guess where my confusion is, at least that I've seen in Ontario, utilities don't -- most of the debt they get is on a 10, 20 years.  It's not 3 years, so I'm just -- what is different about NextBridge that it will be seeking debts in tranches of as low as 3 years.

MS. WALDING:  Once again, it's related to having a single facility.  So a utility that has a lot of different facilities and they're adding new facilities through time, then that is -- they probably do longer terms.

But on single facilities, and this is what we manage on a regular basis, it doesn't make sense because your capital structure can change through time and your rate base can change through time.  So you never want to end up over capitalized.  You want to end up with the right amount of debt that matches what the regulatory requirement is for that debt.

So you can't go and layer a bunch of 20- and 10-year debt because it will end up with you either being under capitalized or over capitalized for certain periods of time.  So it has to match whatever is the flow of the dealt that you're looking for to match your regulatory requirements.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  on page 57, which is on the screen and we look at line 20, this is as based on the numbers we talked about before, the base amount that you're building into your rate base and the transmission system plan expenditure.  And we see on line 20 the average net book value from 2020 to 2030; do you see that?

MS. WALDING:  Yes, I see that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I think you agreed on those numbers earlier.

MS. WALDING:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  It seems to me while it's a declining rate base, it's not dropping at 10 percent a year.  It's dropping at, you know, as we talked about before, roughly 1.2 percent a year.  So explain to me why you would go out for such short periods of debt consistently.

MS. WALDING:  Okay.  I'll give you an example, because if you went -- you would only want -- so let's say that this is correct, and so there's 170 of it, so you want 170 of it in this particular example to expire -- well, not the debt amount of that associated with that 170.  If this was really what you were trying to advance, you would want that amount of debt to have expired during this time period to match your capital structure is what you needed.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Do you have a debt tranche plan, if something exists where you essentially mapped out what your expectations of the tranches and the lengths of time at this point?

MS. WALDING:  No, not for this project specifically we don't, not yet.  We're working towards it, because we're going to be doing the financing in March, but we have not laid out the formal plan yet.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, do you have anything that -- I don't want to say formal plan, but do you have something that sets out your expectations about the various tranches and the lengths of tranches, some indicative of idea --


MS. WALDING:  We have not laid that out yet.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  And I guess if we can go back then to page 50 -- sorry, 63, the second part with the ROE, I think what you're trying to say is, you know, if -- using this chart, if this was ten years ago the ROE would be a lot higher, customers would be paying a lot more, insofar as -- you're locking in the low rate.  Is that what you're trying to get across?

MS. WALDING:  That's right.  We're locking in low rates for a 10-year period, and also to the comparison that you've made to a cost-of-service application, a cost-of-service application would be changing the ROE every year.  And so by doing the custom incentive rate plan, we're locking in this low rate, and we're locking it in for ten years under our proposed application.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And just so I'm aware, are you aware of -- and any other custom IR plan where there's changes to the ROE?  Is that something you have encountered, where there's ROE changes frequently through the plan?

MS. WALDING:  No, but I have encountered where there's short-term terms, and so as an example there has been one-year rates that have been in place for interim rates, and there have been shorter terms as well than what we're proposing, and so, yes, I do think that there are applications that would have their ROEs updated in the time period that we're saying we're not going to update our ROEs.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much, Ms. Walding.  I'd like talk about the construction costs for a moment.  And as I understand the proposal is for the construction costs, it's 737.1 million dollars?

MS. WALDING:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if we turn to page 76 of the compendium.  This is from the Board's December 20th, 2018 decision order in the leave-to-construct proceeding.  We go under section 5.11.  This is the Board reciting NextBridge's evidence.  It says:

"NextBridge indicated that its forecast construction costs are 737 million plus or minus 10 percent (i.e. 810.7 million at the upper end and 663 million at the lower end of the cost range."

Do you see that?

MS. WALDING:  Yes, I do.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, if we turn to page 81, we had asked you in this interrogatory to provide some revised forecasts and variances, and in the response essentially you've -- you point us to certain parts of the evidence where you provided some various reporting reports and cost update reports that you're required to provide to the Board.  Do you see that?

MS. WALDING:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we turn to page 83 of the compendium, this is the quarterly report for October 22nd, 2020 that you filed with the Board.  Do you see that?  And this is the project cost update table page?

MS. WALDING:  Yes, I see it.  Mm-hmm.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And by quarterly -- so this would be the project cost update, am I correct, by the end of September of 2020?

MS. WALDING:  I can't see the date of this particular report.  Can we scroll up a little bit?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.

MS. WALDING:  Yes, and so this would be as of the end of September.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if we look at the table, we see a column H, revised total budget.  You're still forecasting 737.1 million dollars, approximately, correct?

MS. WALDING:  That is correct, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  A couple years later from the leave to construct you were still on pace to have the 737.1, correct?

MS. WALDING:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if we go to page 84, this is the more recent project cost update dated January 22nd, 2021, so I believe this would encompass to the end of 2020.  Do I have that right?

MS. WALDING:  Yes, that's right.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if we take a look at column H, the revised total budget for the construction cost haven't changed, still 77.1 million.

MS. WALDING:  737.1 --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, 737.1 million.

MS. WALDING:  Yes, it is.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if we can turn to page 88.  This is Staff interrogatory 52.  You see at part C you were asked:

"At the time of the LTC proceeding NextBridge argued that the construction cost would fall within a range of 737 plus or minus 10 percent, reference 3."

What band of uncertainty exists around the forecast budget of 737.1 million at this point in time?  Do you see that?

MS. WALDING:  Yes, I see it, uh-huh.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  And if we flip to the next page to your response to that, you say there is no uncertainty around the 737 million of construction costs, correct?

MS. WALDING:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So let me ask you this.  You're asking for the construction cost variance account, correct?

MS. WALDING:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And as we talked about earlier, as I understand, there's three types of cost that can be put into that account, right?  There is the COVID-19-related cost, correct?

MS. WALDING:  Mm-hmm.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  The second is costs that are related to what I would call further EA-related or environmental costs that you may have to incur?

MS. WALDING:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then the rest is all other construction-related costs, and so they differ, right?  Correct?

MS. WALDING:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So why exactly do you think it's appropriate to have the variance account for that last category, all the other related costs, if, you know, you have said 737 in 2018, and here we are, you know, two-and-a-half, two-and-a-bit years later, and you're still remaining at the 737, why do you need that account for those other costs?

MS. WALDING:  Ms. Tidmarsh, I was going to turn this over to you as the project director if you want to talk about it.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, I can.  So as we mentioned before, NextBridge has -- 90 percent of its costs have been contracted for.  10 percent of those costs are still are not contracted for.  We've also spent 60 percent of our budget, and so there is still -- we have a forecast, and our forecast is still tracking to the 737.  However, there are things that could potentially happen over the next year that could deviate from our construction costs.  No one could have predicted -- you know, no one can predict such things as a lightning strike or some of the things Mr. Mayers was talking about where we have to go ahead and put in new towers or make changes or even to the point of, you know, we talked -- Mr. Mayers mentioned the Suez Canal.  We're still getting all of our shipments and all of our equipment, but what if some of our equipment is delayed, and so those are things that would not be part of our construction forecast, and those are things that we would seek recovery for.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I understand that, but as I understand from your evidence, and we see this on the page, there is no uncertainty around the 737.  You seem very, very confident throughout the evidence that it's going
to -- you're not going to overspend.  It's going to be 737.1.  So why should the Board provide with you a variance account to essentially protect against overspending?

MS. WALDING:  What the question was really answering is that at this point we don't have uncertainty.  At this point 737 is our best estimate of those costs, and so it's the best estimate that we have right now, and so there could be things that happen -- sorry, I interrupted --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No, that's okay.  I interrupted you.

MS. WALDING:  There could be things that happen between now and when the project goes in-service that we don't expect to complete, that we need to do to complete the project, and so while this is our best estimate right now, we don't -- there is some uncertainty that we have in order to complete the project, and so that's what the variance account is trying to capture, is that uncertainty.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And why is this not a forecast risk that NextBridge should take on?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Sorry, to clarify, can could you repeat the question?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Why is that risk, the forecast risk of all the things you say may happen, why isn't that a risk that NextBridge should take on?

MS. TIDMARSH:  These potential risks are outside of NextBridge's control.  So NextBridge has certainty around its forecast and so there is -- there are things that could be outside of its control that NextBridge shouldn't have to take the risk on for things that may or may not happen.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Between the utility and the ratepayer, between NextBridge and the ratepayer, you're asking essentially the ratepayer to take on that risk.  Why shouldn't it be NextBridge?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So NextBridge, through no fault of its own, some of the things we're talking about here -- through NextBridge's careful management, NextBridge is still at 737 million dollars.  In fact, NextBridge has managed quite a few risks over the course of the past two years since our leave to construct, and still maintains the 737 million.  So through careful management, it has maintained that number.

But there are things that are outside of NextBridge's control, similar to the way you would have a Z factor account for things outside of the control of the utility and they would seek recovery for it.

So NextBridge would seek recovery for things that would outside of its control, outside of its 737 million dollars budget as forecast.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let me ask you this.  Are you saying that the account should then only capture amounts that vary that are outside of NextBridge's control?  You will only seek recovery if it exceeds the budget because there are things outside of your control?  If it's because of things that are potentially within your control, you won't seek recovery of that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I think the determination of what's within NextBridge's control and what is not in NextBridge's control would be a further prudency review when NextBridge seeks to come in for disposition of the construction cost variance account, which won't be until the second annual update -- pardon me?

So at that point, NextBridge would come in and seek prudency for those costs that were above the 737 million.  That includes both COVID related costs, those costs we mentioned about the overall benefits permit, and costs that may have occurred during the construction period.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  As of right now, do you foresee anything that will likely lead to increased costs that are outside of your control?

MS. TIDMARSH:  As of right now, NextBridge is managing to its budget, its forecasted budget.  And those items may go up or down and NextBridge will not know until commercial operation date if there are any costs that go outside of those forecasted costs.

I mentioned before that through careful management, we have been able to manage our costs including allocating contingency, working through when finding, for example, savings in our materials costs to be able to manage to our 737.  So NextBridge won't know until we reach COD if there are any impacts above 737 million dollars to our account.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  As I take it if from your statement about managing to the 737, as of now you don't expect them to materialize?

MS. TIDMARSH:  As of now, I'm not aware of anything in our budget that would cause an impact that we couldn't potentially mitigate over the incomes year and come in at our 737.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let me ask you quickly about the COVID costs.  As I understand, you don't know what the COVID costs are yet.  Is that -- at a high level, is my understanding correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  NextBridge has some COVID costs it's been booking to the project.  However, the majority of those COVID costs, as Ms. Weinstein and Ms. Walding talked about, are capital costs and being borne by our general Contractor.  So over the course of the pandemic, our general contractor has been incurring these costs to ensure the safety and continued operation of our essential service project.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I clearly understand there will be costs related to COVID, and I don't doubt that.  I'm just unclear.  Are you going to get a bill at the end of the day from the contractor to say this is what our COVID costs are?  I'm just unclear.

You know there are costs. I'm unclear how those costs are to be passed on to NextBridge, if at all.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Those costs will be passed on to NextBridge and at the end of the project, the commercial operation date, the general contractor will present those costs to NextBridge and at that point in time, NextBridge has the potential to negotiate with the general contractor and go through all those costs, determine if they were prudently spent, determine if it was worth NextBridge coming for recovery, determine if it was a cost that is outside of the EPC contract, the engineering procurement contract that Valard holds.

So if those costs are outside of that and due to a force majeure event like a pandemic, an expert will negotiate those and come up with a cost that it will seek to put into the construction cost variance account for further distribution at a later date.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And you have not asked the contractor what's the bill running up to at this point?

MS. TIDMARSH:  At this point in time, we have not discussed those COVID costs with our general contractor because as I said, they are extremely variable.  In some cases, we need to get to the end of the project to determine if some of those costs are in fact COVID related or fall within our general contractor's purview or outside of it, and then we can true it up from there.

So no, we have not received our COVID costs and they are ongoing.  For example, for the past year, people may think it just started off with are we buying PPE and hand sanitizer for people.  So no, those costs evolve and in some cases, we've had to procure extra trucks so not more than two people are riding in a truck together.  We've had to buy test kits to ensure people are getting tested and properly sent to health authorities.

So the nature of our COVID costs has been evolving over time and likely will continue to evolve until COD.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  How is it you're prudently managing the project if all these new things and new expenses because of COVID are being incurred by your contractor, but you haven't asked how much is this costing to date to get a sense of what the magnitude of those costs could be?

MS. TIDMARSH:  As I said, I wouldn't say that we are not all of these costs and that we're letting these costs run up.

Negotiations are extremely important when it comes to a change order with an EPC contractor.  So we have a fixed price contract with Valard and some of those costs may in fact be eaten by Valard when it comes to COVID costs.

So NextBridge and Valard need to have a conversation and negotiation on what Valard will in fact eat and what NextBridge will in fact eat and pass on in our construction cost variance account.  So those costs have not been discussed and we don't know the quantum of those until COD.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Has Valard declared or given you notice they deem COVID-19 a force majeure of the contract?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Valard provided us notice they deem the pandemic a force majeure event.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And in that, you have had no discussion with them about what the magnitude of the costs are going to be for the purposes of that force majeure notice?

MS. TIDMARSH:  As I mentioned, no, because it's an ongoing cost process and the amount that NextBridge will put into its construction cost variance account may in fact change by the time it reaches COD.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Do you have a sense, using you and your team's knowledge of what the costs of various things are that people are taking with respect to COVID-19 and the construction costs and all those, do you have an order of magnitude of what the costs could be?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So I think one of the things, if I step back a little built, is what constitutes a COVID related cost as well.  I personally don't have knowledge on how many masks we bought, how many test kits we bought, how much hand sanitizer we bought.

I don't think the group itself would know -- for example, I mentioned the buying of extra trucks.  Were the purchase of extra trucks so no more than two people could be in a vehicle together, are those in fact because of COVID or are they because of something else.

So those costs, NextBridge -- the quantum we don't know yet because the parameters around what constitutes a COVID cost have not been set out.

MS. WALDING:  And I will add, too.  It is normal in a construction project like this for the contractor to give you a force majeure notice just to hold -- have a place-holder there, and so it's been our objective to try to keep the project being constructed, and so we're working with our contractor to make sure that we have -- also, Ms. Tidmarsh, you might want to talk a little bit about, we have on-site construction managers that are our construction managers as well that are overseeing the contractors on a daily basis.

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct, Ms. Walding.  I think the other thing that I would add here is NextBridge itself, the project, as electricity infrastructure, was deemed an essential service, and so NextBridge needed to continue for the reliability of the electricity system in northwestern Ontario, so NextBridge needed to continue with constructing the project and incurring costs to make sure that we could be in-service for the reliability, and we do have our own construction managers, so it's not just Valard and their construction managers on-site.  It's also our own day-to-day management people who are there, ensuring that costs are being spent appropriately and that no additional change orders are coming our way.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Thank you very much.

Can I ask you to turn to page 65.  As I understand -- this table shows up many places in the evidence.  As I understand, this is just a breakdown, a high-level breakdown of the NextBridge 2020 annualized OM&A expenses.  Do I have that correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And as I understand it, NextBridge itself does not have any employees.  Those activities are either done through an agreement with one of the partners, such a as NextEra Energy Transmission, or through Hydro One Supercom?  Do I have that correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that's correct.  NextBridge has no employees of its own.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let me first ask you about the Hydro One Supercom agreement.  And maybe you can just first let -- make sure I understand what that is.  This is an arrangement you have -- a contract you have with Hydro One and Supercom, which as I understand, Supercom itself is a partnership of the six First Nations that the line traverses?  Do I have that correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that's correct, and I will actually pass this line of questioning to Mr. Mayers.

MR. MAYERS:  I believe it also includes some of the Metis community as well.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I understand the Hydro One Super -- through Hydro One Supercom, that arrangement, they will be doing a good amount of the OM&A work on the project?

MR. MAYERS:  So they will be doing a portion of what's considered the operation and maintenance, 1.27 million, that's shown on Table 1.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I apologize, I didn't put this in the compendium.  That's my fault.  I don't think we need to pull it up.  But we had asked you in SEC 5 essentially, as I understand, you had not entered into a service-level agreement at the time that you filed the IRs, but you -- the plan was to enter a service-level agreement by the end of Q1 2021?  Do I have that right?

MR. MAYERS:  That was the original plan; that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Has that plan changed?

MR. MAYERS:  Well, here we are.  We're at the end of quarter one, and we have not finalized the agreement.  HONI has requested that they take this agreement to their Board in May, and so we have acknowledged that they can go forward and do that at this time.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  We had asked you in that interrogatory in part D, since the applicant has not entered a service-level agreement with Hydro One and/or Supercom, how do the applicant forecast the costs of the operating and maintenance budget, and your response was that the costs --


MR. VEGH:  Mr. Rubenstein, sorry, can we pull that up, please, instead of --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sure.

MR. VEGH:  -- reading interrogatories and responses, if you could give Mr. Mayers a minute and -- or staff a minute to pull the interrogatory up.  SEC 5, you said it was?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sure.  I don't want to spend too much time.  Essentially, you pointed to another IR, which I can take you to, so I don't want to spend too much time -- I don't know if it's worth --


MR. MAYERS:  Mr. Rubenstein, I have a copy in front of me.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yeah, so just so I'm clear, you said in your response that the -- it was set -- the costs were set, part of a competitive procurement, just the commercial terms, and then you point me to staff 16 and staff 29.  Do I have that right?

MR. MAYERS:  Yes, you do.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  So maybe we can go to page 67 of the compendium.  I'll hold it up for a second if the Board -- the Panel wants to -- the Commission or Panel wants to look at the IR for a moment.

And so I've reviewed the Staff 16, the IR, and as I understand, it was a -- and you provide some of these answers on the next part -- that there was a competitive procurement process that you undertook.  There were multiple bidders, and the Hydro One Supercom was the winner, correct?

MR. MAYERS:  Yes, sir.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I just want to understand what that contract is.  Is the contract based on a fixed amount of work?  How is it priced?  If you can just provide a little bit more colour of what that -- how that contract is set out.

MR. MAYERS:  Sure.  So we have a contract.  We hope to have a contract here in May that will align our inspection requirements for the vegetation management and general inspection of the line, which will be done on an annual basis, and then we will be doing detailed inspections of one-third of the line every year.  They are going to provide those inspection services.  They'll also provide the follow-up to those inspection services.  So let me give you an example.  We're doing the vegetation management inspection, and as they're flying the line they make note of various locations that have leaning trees or some growth that appears to be higher than anticipated.  They will make note of that and continue down the line, and they will then provide us a report.  If there is an imminent issue, they will notify our ops lead immediately, but if there's not, they will produce a report for that, and let's just say the vegetation management.

They are going to be doing the same type of inspections on the individual towers.  That tower inspection will encompass a very detailed review with high-definition cameras of all the components on that particular tower, including the tower itself, the optical ground wire, the overhead ground wire, the conductors, the attachments, the Guyed-Y, everything that's attached to that one physical structure, they will continue to do that.  Now, if they find something, same thing.  They will note their finding.  If there is an imminent issue they will notify the ops lead of that, and then the ops lead will ask for them to provide a remediation.  That remediation is also part of that contract.

So you have the inspection services, the remediation of both the vegetation management and the remediation of any follow-up maintenance requirements, and then in addition to that they're going to provide storage for our spare parts and -- most of our spare parts.  Our ops lead will have some additional spare parts with him.  They will also provide -- let's see.  We've got... I'm missing one.  They will provide notifications, so, you know, again, we're going to have to determine a way to access the facility, and so we are going to have to notify landowners, or if it's on parks land or if it's one of the municipalities that requires specific acknowledgment that we're going to be accessing their land, so notifications will have to be carried out by both us and HONI that they are going to be on-site to do work, and then you have -- they will put together a safety plan.  They will provide the ops lead and entire scope of work as to what's going to be complete as part of that, and the ops lead will have to get approval from the project director.  I think that covers most of the services contract.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Mr. Mayers, maybe I can add in a little bit here about the structure of the contract, which I think is what Mr. Rubenstein was looking for.

So the structure of the contract is currently 3 years, with a potential to extend to 5 years.  It's based off of time and materials.  So the budget that NextBridge has put together is its estimate on the time and material costs that it will need to ask HONI to do those services.

Just as we were talking about earlier this morning, this is our budget and if there are any things that are above that budget -- so Mr. Mayers talked about someone shooting out an insulator, if we needed to go and replace that insulator or do work for remediation, that would increase that cost.  However, NextBridge bears that cost as part of its capital O&M.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So insofar as year 2 or year 3, Hydro One and Supercom becomes more efficient in doing that work, that's a savings, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So if Hydro One or Supercom become more efficient in doing the work, then those costs -- the budget may not exceed.  However, we did mention this morning about all of the variables that are in our operations budget.  But I understand what you're saying.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sure.  Just so I understand, you say it's time and materials and it's 3 year and a 5 year.  Does the time and materials cost increase annually? Is there an escalator, or is it fixed over the term?

MR. MAYERS:  No, there is not.  It's a fixed 3 year time and material contract, so we have rates for all the work that's necessary including helicopter and pilot time, things like that.  Those rates are fixed.

At the end of 3 years, there will be a renegotiation and we can extend this contract to 5 years.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  Just so I understand the time and materials, so the unit cost, let's call it, are fixed.  All that changes over time, or at least in the first 3 years is the amount of work or the amount of materials that may be consumed?

MR. MAYERS:  Yes, that's correct.  You also have to consider the fact that HONI may be called upon for emergency response.  If we have an ice storm in one section of the line and we can't access the property because it's under 3 feet of snow presently, we can't clear quick enough, then we may contact them.  This could happen repeatedly, depending on weather events or some other outage, unscheduled outage that was -- that happened to pop up.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  So unlike other contracts you may have where there is an increase in the price over time, here at least for the first 3 years there is no increase, correct?

MR. MAYERS:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So that's an -- so let me ask you about between years 3 and 5.  Is there an escalator if you extend the contract for those two years?  You have an option, as I understand it.  Does the price and material rates change?

MR. MAYERS:  I'm not aware that the price changes or doesn't change at this time.  I think it's going to be negotiated.  I think that's why the 3 year term was agreed to.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  So it's just we don't know the answer to that question.  You don't specifically know it's just -- NextBridge doesn't know because it hasn't been decided yet?

MR. MAYERS:  I don't know.  Maybe, Ms. Tidmarsh, if you know something differently.  I'm not aware that there is an inflator in that prior -- in the last two years.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Not at this point.  But I think I would like to make a distinction here.  Mr. Rubenstein was saying about our other contracts will increase when it comes to the values of them.  But here, although there is a fixed price or for time and materials, so our fixed unit -- I like the way you said unit.  The unit costs do remain the same.  However, the amount of work that needs to be done, I wouldn't call that fixed.  I think there is potential it could go up, again talking all the things --the risks on the operation of the line.  I want to make that clear.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I want to clarify the last statement because I'm a little bit unclear.  Mr. Mayers, I'll move that question to you.

Is it that it has not been negotiated what happens between -- if the contract is exercised between year 4 and 5, so the unit cost for time and material may increase or no, it won't increase.  I just want to be clear.

MS. TIDMARSH:  The answer is we don't know.  We have not negotiated at -- we don't know what's going to happen after 3 years when it comes to negotiations.  Those unit rates may potentially increase and again NextBridge would bear that cost.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Is that something that you're negotiating at the service level now, or is that something that will happen when you exercise it, you make that determination?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That will happen in year 3 when we exercise it.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  As I also understand another contract that you have -- sorry, one second.  I want to make sure I have the right compendium page here.

MR. VEGH:  Sorry to interrupt.  Just a bit of a time check here.  I did mention that Ms. Walding would have to leave us around 2:40, so I don't know if this is a good time for a break, or should she excuse herself.  I leave it to you and the panel.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Either way. I don't think I have any more questions for her.

MR. ELSAYED:  Do you have any further questions for Ms. Walding?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I don't think so.  I hesitate in the sense that she may have wanted to answer a question.  I can't predict since she's been answering lots of questions, but I don't think I have any more questions for you.

MR. ELSAYED:  Ms. Walding, did you want to say anything before we take a break?

MS. WALDING:  No, I'll try to hang on as much as I can, though.

MR. ELSAYED:  Otherwise, we can take our next break.  It's 2:41 now, so why don't we take a break until 2:50?
--- Recess taken at 2:41 p.m.
--- On resuming at 2:53 p.m.

DR. ELSAYED:  Welcome back, everyone.  Mr. Rubenstein, you may resume your cross-examination.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.  If I can ask that page 66 of the compendium please brought up.  Yes, there it is.  So similar to the SEC 5, we had asked you similar questions regarding what is known as the NEET agreement, that's NextEra Energy Transmission LLC agreement, and asked you -- we'd asked you a number of questions, and we asked you if the service-level agreement where you had -- or we'd asked you in part B, when do you expect the service-level agreement to be entered into, and you said in part B the end of Q1 2021.  Has that occurred yet?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's not occurred yet, no.  It will
-- for timing-wise it will be in the next couple weeks.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  What's the delay --


MS. TIDMARSH:  So the negotiation of that agreement is actually between four separate legal entities, so it's the OMERS legal team, the Enbridge legal team, the NextEra NEET legal team, and NextBridge.  There's four separate legal teams involved in drafting of that, or the negotiation of that agreement.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Blaming it on the lawyers.  I understand.

MS. TIDMARSH:  I didn't go there.  I just -- it was subtle.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  We had asked you in part E that essentially since there had been an SLA entered into and how have you forecasted the cost of services that are included in the budget, and similarly you pointed us to those staff IRs.  So maybe I can -- and as I understand, there was a competitive procurement process also for the NEET agreement; is that correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So, yes, so under the NEET agreement, NEET compared the costs of operating -- of doing all of its services as part of either outsourcing those as part of the Hydro One agreement or doing them in-house, so for example, NEET would do all of the operations and maintenance, or the hybrid model that we ended up coming to, where NEET did part of the work and Hydro One does the other part of the work, and so we compared those three costs together and determined that the hybrid model was the most cost-efficient.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And can I ask you how that has -- at least compared to the Hydro One Supercom, how that agreement is structured?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So that agreement is for ten years, and it's based on hourly rates for certain services, and those services would be around some of the operations and maintenance work, so not all of the work in operations and maintenance is done by Hydro One, so there is oversight by NEET employees, NextEra employees.  There's also costs in there for managing of stakeholder relations over the 10-year period, so those would be, for example, providing notice to communities, keeping customer relations up, stakeholder relations.  There's also costs in there for project management, so the project management team, a lot of costs in there for financial management, so the hourly rates for our accounting team to be able to keep up the financial reporting on the project.  And so each one of those -- and there's other sections, but I'll talk about the agreement.  So each one of those has a rate, an hourly rate, as part of it, and those are charged through the NEET agreement.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And is there an escalator for those rates?

MS. TIDMARSH:  There is a labour -- there is, there is a labour escalator of about 3 percent.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  I was trying to find throughout the evidence -- I couldn't figure out, what was the total value of the NEET agreement?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So the NEET -- sorry, so the NEET agreement is the labour costs for the project, so they are less about unit costs that we talked about with Hydro One and more about labour costs.  And so those labour costs, for example, are broken out in each separate line item.  So for example, in our operations and maintenance budget there is a regulatory line item, and the labour costs for periodic filings to the OEB, those would be included in there.  So there is no single one line item for NEET agreement costs.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, so let me give you an example.  If the OM&A budget is 4.94 million, how much of that is covered by the NEET agreement?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So the NEET agreement would cover the labour costs, and off the top of my head I can't -- I could not calculate how many hours we forecasted as part of each one of those line items --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Is that something you can undertake to let us know, of the 4.94 million how much of that is being covered by the NEET agreement?

MS. WEINSTEIN:  If I can add to this one?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.

MS. WEINSTEIN:  So if we could flip to Staff 30, I think that provides a bit of a breakdown where we could easily -- more easily kind of direct you to the components that would be part of the NEET agreement.

So Jillian, are you able to pull up Staff 30?  I believe that's the one.  I'll know when I see it.  Yeah.

So kind of briefly walking through this one, the bulk of the NEET agreement is going to be concentrated in two areas of our total OM&A of the 4.9 million, there is a component in the O&M section of 1.2, but what we're focusing on in this one is part of the compliance and administration bucket of 1.67 million, so the project director's office, that first where you see in the response of A, that labour itself is part of the NEET agreement, and there is also office rent and audit fees embedded in there, so not the whole portion, and then going further down the road there are the other labour-related items in there embedded in stakeholder relations and then corporate services.  That's where the labour components are that are dictated by the NEET agreement.  But I want to be clear, it's not everything in there because, as I mentioned, like, the project director's office also holds dollars for our audit that would be done by an external independent firm and then some charges for rent for a small office.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yeah, that's why it would be best if you could provide an undertaking to let us know of the 4.94 million dollars how much is covered by the NEET agreement.  Could you undertake to do that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Ms. Weinstein, I believe we can undertake to do that.  Can you confirm --


MS. WEINSTEIN:  We can estimate that, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.

MS. WEINSTEIN:  Yes.

MR. MURRAY:  It's Lawren Murray for OEB Staff.  That will be Undertaking J1.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.1:  TO ADVISE OF THE 4.94 MILLION DOLLARS HOW MUCH IS COVERED BY THE NEET AGREEMENT.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.  If we turn to part -- sorry, page 70 of the compendium --


THE REPORTER:  I'm sorry, can someone please stop speaking, mute their audio?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  It's not me.

THE REPORTER:  I don't know if, Ashley, if you're able to mute people that --

--- Off-the-record discussion.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So you were asked in part C of this interrogatory:

"NextBridge were using a 6-year cycle for vegetation maintenance?  If yes, please provide a more detailed explanation of the 6-year cycle, including what work is to be carried out in each of the six years.  If no, what alternative cycles or plans will NextBridge be using and why it's more appropriate?"

Do you see that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I do see that, and I'm going to pass this to Mr. Mayers.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So in response to part C you say:

"No, NextBridge will be using an annual inspection to determine remediation requirements on an as-needed basis on the right of way versus a prescriptive 6-year cycle."

Do you see that?

MR. MAYERS:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And what I took from actually an earlier answer that you provided to me, you're doing an annual inspection and then you will be doing targeted vegetation management on a -- is that on a 6-year basis?

MR. MAYERS:  No, I think you can just eliminate the 6-year cycle.  I think that was taken from Bruce to Milton in the prior answer in B above in that response.  The intention here is -- for the vegetation management is FAC003-4 is a requirement of NERC, and we're going to have to do annual vegetation maintenance inspection, so we will inspect the entire line annually and, if necessary, we will do follow-up vegetation management.  There will be ongoing vegetation management because we have to maintain the right of way to less than two meters in height, and that's part of our 1061 conditions that are in the amended EA.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Could I ask you to turn to page 58? At page 58 on the second page, you're answering in response -- you can read it for yourself, but you're answering a response about why freezing rates is not appropriate.  You talk about the cost measures in this response.

If you flip to the second page, the second bullet point is "Managing NextBridge's right of way vegetation management program taking into consideration the six year vegetation cycle."  Do you see that?

MR. MAYERS:  I do.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I'm unclear how you say forget about the 6 year cycle.  Maybe you can clarify that to me?

MR. MAYERS:  I'll try, I'll try.  As I said, we took some general maintenance information from the HONI application and this being our first line in Northern Ontario, we've done transmission lines in mountainous areas before.  But this is the first in Northern Ontario and we were trying to get an idea of what the requirement might be.

But in this particular case, they had their own vegetation management cycle.  We're going to have our own vegetation management cycle and that cycle for us is annual inspections with follow-up vegetation management as required.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So you forecasted in 2022, as part of the 4.94 million dollars as we talked about, a certain amount of vegetation management work you have to do, correct?

MR. MAYERS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  How did you determine how much you would need to do?

MR. MAYERS:  From the vast experience we have at NextEra, many years of vegetation management across many projects throughout the United States and North America.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I recognize that.  I just mean what we're need to do on average, we need to cost in the annual inspection part and let's say 1/6th of what it would cost to clear the entire -- or do vegetation management on the entire line.

I'm trying to understand how it was estimated from a practical point of view for the purposes of determining the 2022 budget.

MR. MAYERS:  As part of the HONI SLA, we are negotiating with HONI and we are talking with HONI about the vegetation management requirements specifically to this targeted region of Northern Ontario.  We're taking that information, and we're looking at the experience we have based on the length of the line, the amount of trees, the type of vegetation, the growth rates that are inclusive of this area, and making a determination of how often we're going to have to do vegetation management.

As I stated, we have specific requirements in our operational environmental management plan that's going to be very specific to targeting the annual inspections and follow-ups that are going to be required after major storms, whether it be a wind storm, a rainstorm.  It's not just trees.  It's going to be about growth rates of trees and brush and scrub.

We have we have concerns about erosion.  You saw the terrain.  It's rock, very light topsoil.  You get a lot of rain in here.  I believe we had over 450 water crossings on the 450 kilometres of this, which required 300 bridges to be installed not all of which will be permanent.  But we will have to review that to make sure there wasn't any damage to -- let's say we had a rain event and it hits a 10 mile area and you end up with a lot more rain than expected.  There's flooding, there's some damage.  We're going to do a vegetation management assessment to see if some of the trees came down, because a lot of trees in those particular areas sit on rock.  Their root structure doesn't go down very deep, so it doesn't take a lot, between soggy roots and heavy winds, to knock trees down.  You could have ice storms that do the same thing.

We have to check for sediment control, erosion, potentially bridge damage and, as I said, the vegetation.  So again, looking at all the experience that we have -- again we don't have it specific to Ontario, but we have it in Colorado and the mountains of California.  And we're very familiar with tree growth in general because we do vegetation management on every transmission line that we own and we own 10,000 plus kilometres of transmission lines throughout the United States.

MS. TIDMARSH:  If I may, I would like to add one other consideration we put into the budget.  So although Mr. Mayers talked about Ontario experience, there is some made in Ontario conditions that we have included in our vegetation management considerations.

So for example, during consultation of our environmental assessment, the Indigenous communities did not want to us do aerial spraying.  So we were unable to do aerial spraying of herbicides.  So part of this vegetation management plan also takes into account manual clearing and spot clearing for herbicides.

Also very important to those First Nations were there are special species that First Nations hold cultural significance for -- so for example, blueberries.

So we make sure when we did our vegetation management, it had to be in a very surgical way so we knew we could avoid those areas.

Mr. Raffenberg can probably answer and add a little more colour here on caribou.  So as part of our caribou overall benefits permit, there are special vegetation management pieces that also needed to be included in this budget and we included those special measures.  Mr. Raffenberg?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I appreciate your answer, but my question is much simpler.  I'm trying to understand when it comes to vegetation management how you came up with an annual amount.  As I understood from Mr. Mayers, from the evidence, you did look at generally we have to do -- you have to do this on a 6 year cycle, generally speaking.

I'm just trying to understand was any component in determining the 2022 amount saying from our targeted amount, it's going to be 1/6th the cost to do the entire line.

For a simpleton like me, that is one way to look at budgeting.  Is that how you did it?

MS. TIDMARSH:  To summarize -- maybe what I can do is summarize Mr. Mayers' answers and my own.

The answer on how we put together the budget is that it wasn't 1/6th of something.  It was a very tailored budget to NextBridge that included the -- that included the vegetation management NERC measures, as well as things that came from our environmental assessment that we must do, and all those factors together built into a budget of the things we had to do on a yearly basis.  Does that answer your question?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I understand your response.  Can I ask you to go to page 58?  This is what we were talking about, but in a little bit more depth.

You were asked at page -- sorry, you were asked in Staff IR number 4, part A and part B:
"Please explain whether, given a declining rate base, limited capital expenditures, and operating expenses being a small percentage of the total revenue requirement, a rate freeze (or declining revenue requirement) for the plan period of 2021 to 2031 would be sufficient to allow NextBridge to cover its allowed costs, including having an opportunity to earn its return on capital, and recover from costs from Hydro One and Supercom and NEET for operating services under the service agreements."


Do you see that question?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Under part B, you say no, freezing rates -- freezing the revenue requirement will not allow NextBridge to recover its costs, and allow a rate of return, and the rest of the answer provides a bunch of reasons why.  Do you see that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, I do.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I want to talk about some of those reasons with you.  So first, I take it, is you talk about here and say at the beginning of page 2 is that "the HONI SLA are not fixed price contracts", and the estimates based on the currently understood maintenance.  Do you see that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I'm paraphrasing, to be clear.

MS. TIDMARSH:  I see the gist of what you're saying. I got it.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And you do say that:

"The HONI SLA is an activity-based contract, as additional maintenance is needed NextBridge will pay additional fees.  The HONI SLA requires renegotiation and renewal after 3 years (or 5 years if the two-year extension is exercised), which is during the IR Term and could reset the rates that HONI/Supercom will charge."


Do you see that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I do.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And that's what we just -- we talked about before the break, correct?  Okay.  And so as I understand, as we talked about the rate -- the costs -- the unit costs are fixed for the first 3 years, but what may change is the activities that need to be undertaken under that agreement, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And as I understand, you forecast the expected maintenance costs, correct?  You have a forecast of the -- sorry, in forecasting in the 2020 based OM&A you have forecast what you think the maintenance costs are going to be based on, and then the -- based on the amount of work you need to do times the material and labour rates that are under that agreement, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so the issue, as I understand, is you may be uncertain about what those maintenance costs may be in future years, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that's correct.  And so just to expand on that and this list, but -- below and some of the things that we've spoken about this morning are I think
a -- you could call it like a death by a thousand cuts, right, so there are many different things that can happen over the 10-year term, 9 year, 9 month IR term, that could potentially increase those costs.  And so this list below and some of the things Mr. Mayers has spoken about earlier are things that could increase that cost.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And as we discussed earlier, there could also be things that decrease those costs, as Hydro One and Supercom become more -- they understand the NextBridge line better and are able to be more efficient in undertaking their work, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So those are things that we won't know until our 3-year negotiation on whether they can become more efficient or not, and I think NextBridge has always maintained -- and that's only one portion of our OM&A budget, and so that is -- of that part of the budget, that's only 400,000 dollars of the budget, and that's in one of our IRs of what we intend to pay Hydro One in the test year is 400,000.  And so that's only one component.  There are many other things that would offset any of those potential efficiencies.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sure.  And in the NEET agreement there are increases -- I think you said that there was -- the labour rate increase is 3 percent a year, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And there also could be, since it's based on a labour rate, need to the employees that are doing the work for NextEra under that agreement may become more efficient over time and in doing the work, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So again, the same answer as before.  Any efficiencies that we could possibly foresee with these agreements would very likely be offset because of our minimal OM&A budget by any of those, again I call them death by a thousand cuts things that could happen over the ten years of the project.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so if we take a look at -- we flip the page -- or, no, we're still on that page.  I want to walk through some of these bullet points here.  The first bullet point is rising income-tax expenses as NextBridge's capital cost allowance declines.  Do you see that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I do.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, I understood, and I think this was discussed earlier, and we see this on page 45 of the compendium, my understanding from the testimony earlier on today was that actually you would always be paying the Ontario corporate minimum tax during the IR period, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I'm going to pass this answer to Ms. Weinstein.

MS. WEINSTEIN:  Yes, the expectation right now is that our taxable income situation would lead us to still be at the OCMT over the IR period.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And that's because there is enough capital cost allowance, significant amount of capital cost allowance, that allow you to essentially shield from paying normal income tax during that period, correct?

MS. WEINSTEIN:  That's our projection right now, but, yes, based on the capital cost allowance and especially the accelerated component that happens in the test year making that our biggest year of essentially deferred taxes would lead to the test year being the most favourable tax position based on that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  So if we go back to page 59 there is no real risk of rising income-tax expenses as the capital cost allowance decline, because you don't expect to pay normal income tax during the 10-year period, correct?

MS. WEINSTEIN:  I don't know that I would characterize it that way.  I think each year we will calculate our taxes and we would expect to pay the OCMT, but as our taxable income fluctuates and as -- if CCA continues to make phases outward or changes related to that, our -- as I mentioned before, our biggest capital cost allowance would be in the test year as we put the rate base in-service for the most part, so we would not expect it to get essentially any better than that situation, so through the IR term our CCA is not going to increase or provide more favourable results for our taxable income, so I think the risk is the opposite, that it will go the other direction.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, if I can ask you to turn to page 57 just so we understand, and if we can go to line 41.  My understanding at the end of the IR term you'll still be in a position of having a loss carry-forward of negative 23 million, approximately.

MS. WEINSTEIN:  Give me one second.  I'm looking on a larger screen.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yeah, no problem.

MS. WEINSTEIN:  I would have to review all of the calculations that kind of baked into this income-tax section, so I can't comment on that right now, if that's the exact tax position we would expect over the IR term.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, you -- anyways, we'll leave it at that.  I'll move on to the next bullet point here.

Sorry, if we can go back to page 59.  The next is managing NextBridge's right-of-way vegetation management program, taking into consideration the 6-year vegetation cycle and expected increase in forestry expenses during the test years with greater work volumes.  Do you see that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, I do.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But as I understand it -- we just talked about this -- you have budgeted -- you've talked a lot about how you have come up with your budget in the 2020 year, so there is a budgeted amount in that year that would be representative of your vegetation management program, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  The budgeted amount is 1.27 million dollars for operations and maintenance, and that includes the budgeted amount from Hydro One and the Supercom SLA.  It also includes some of our own costs for vegetation maintenance, and just to be clear, that number actually also was part of our leave-to-construct number, so the leave-to-construct number that we forecasted years ago was also 1.27, so NextBridge has held flat in this budget.  In fact, we even held flat since the designation.  It was also 1.27 million from the designation.  So this budget is quite minimal and hasn't included any sort of estimates for inflation, and so I wouldn't characterize this as being able to absorb all of the costs for operations and maintenance.  We've mentioned numerous times ad nauseam, I'm sure, about all of the potential increases that could happen in OM&A, and although we still have a very minimal budget, that number could increase.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But just so I'm clear, you have built into the 2020 year vegetation budget based on the one discussion we previously had that were all the various issues that you had to consider and all the experience that you've had, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So, yes, there is vegetation management built into the first year, because we need to do annual inspections, and because at some points in that right of way there are -- we've done clearing two years ago by the time we come into service, and so, yes, we need to do annual inspections in that very first year.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So the next bullet point is potential maintenance and labour cost increases.  Do you see that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I do, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And what you're saying is when their agreements end under the NEET agreement or Hydro One, those costs may increase, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So those labour cost increases -- yes, correct, the labour cost increases are going to be part of the NEET agreement, and then additionally Mr. Mayers I think was referring to the Hydro One Supercom SLA, so those could potentially increase after the 3 year if we don't exercise the option for five, and then again after 5 years.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  But we know the NEET agreement is 3 percent through the ten years, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So that one, the labour cost won't increase.  It's the Hydro One-Supercom, that's fixed for the first 3 years, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  To be clear, we mentioned labour cost increases.  Those costs will increase and those costs as part of the NEET agreement and they are above the 2 percent inflation that we're seeking.

So this is what this IR was trying to describe.  It did describe is the challenges and cost that are above what we are planning on our test year and what could cause our O&M to go up.

So yes, there will be increases as part of the NEET agreement of 3 percent, but the HONI is fixed at 5 years if we exercise that option.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  The next is bird nest removal and bird excrement and associated damages.  Do you see that?

MR. MAYERS:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I think we talked about that earlier this morning.  These are other -- I would characterize them as sort of other maintenance issues that may arise and that you may need to deal with during the term.  Is that fair?

MR. MAYERS:  Yes, we don't have a line built yet.  So we don't know how much of an impact the birds will have on it.

What we do know from our experience is that when you build a transmission line near water, the birds love to use the transmission line and the structures that go with it.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  How much have you built into the 2022 budget to deal with these sorts of issue issues?

MR. MAYERS:  I don't have a specific number because, one, I don't know how many bird nests are anticipated.  I think we considered a small number that may have to be relocated.  Bird excrement; again, we don't know how many birds are going to actually begin perching on our structures.  This is something that's more or less going to need to be looked at.

But we do have -- we have a portion of the dollars in there.  I don't recall exactly how much of it, but it's not huge amount, but we did allocate funds to ensure we could do it if necessary.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Would it be fair to say what you're talking about here is if there is more bird nest removal and bird excrement, associated damages, than you are forecasting?

MR. MAYERS:  I'm sorry --


MS. WALDING:  Ms. Weinstein, would you please speak to the amount that's included?  I don't believe there's hardly anything included for removing bird nests.  Would you please provide that amount?

MS. WEINSTEIN:  I think what Ms. Walding is referring to is something we touched on earlier today, the component of 1.2 million of O&M that was carved out to follow up on  findings or issues such as birds that Mr. Mayers is describing.

As mentioned, I think, earlier this morning, that number was 170,000.  That is not earmarked to a specific task yet, but it's to follow-up on findings from activities that will happen.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Go back to my question to Mr. Mayers.  Is it fair to say then really this is -- the issue is bird nest removal and bird excrement and associated damages that are in excess of what you're forecasting right now?

MR. MAYERS:  We have to include something in the OM&A budget knowing we're probably going to have a few of these instances over 450-kilometre transmission line.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, maybe we're agreeing.  I take it that the cost pressure you're talking about in this IR related to this is that there will be more than you forecasted in this -- by forecasting, I mean you would put in the budget.

MR. MAYERS:  Possibly yes, possibly yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  The next is localized extreme weather events.  I see icing, lightning, fire related damage and associated remediation.  Do you see that?

MR. MAYERS:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You'd agree with me if the amount is material, that would be the type of event you would normally -- that could be eligible for a Z factor?

MR. MAYERS:  If you define material, I would assume the Z factor has a specific quantification associated with it.  But I've seen it brought down half a dozen towers as an extreme event, but might be inclusive of a Z factor, correct.  Icing that might damage -- maybe some localized icing that maybe damage some cross arms on a structure may not trigger a Z factor.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And my understanding -- let's talk about those type of events.  With respect to the capital component, you have -- we talked about this at the beginning of the day.  You have a number of spares that I guess you would utilize in that scenario, potentially?

MR. MAYERS:  Yeah, I didn't say that the tower would come down.  You could have -- we have cross arms on the towers, so you might damage some components of it and to replace those components, you'd have to call out a crew, you'd have to have bucket trucks, you'd have to have cranes, you'd have to have access, you'd have to have crews for something that is not nearly as impactful as a structure coming down.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That's fair.

MR. MAYERS:  And --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Have you built in any amount in the 2022 budget to deal with issues like this?

MR. MAYERS:  Issues like – go ahead, Ms. Weinstein?

MS. WEINSTEIN:  Sorry, I was just going to say I think this is back to the same point on the amount we have in the budget for these known unknowns essentially is the 170,000.  Anything outside of that 170,000, once we reach that amount for the year, will be over and in excess of our OM&A budget.  So as Mr. Mayers had touched on, the materiality for a Z factor for us, we're projecting that to be about 278,000 right now, half of our proposed revenue Requirement.

If we have these events that are less than 278, they're going to cumulate quickly and exceed the 170,000 we have set aside to follow-up on findings and will quickly put us over our OM&A targeted amount.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Mr. Mayers, we talked about vegetation management and I asked if it was applicable to this.  We talked about you -- NextEra has a lot of experience with transmission lines, at least in the United States.  You must have used your expertise to come up with, with respect to the budget, how much you should put away every year to deal with weather related issues like this, correct?

MR. MAYERS:  It's a factor in the overall costs of the OM&A as Ms. Weinstein just described, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  The next one is --


MR. ELSAYED:  Just a time check, Mr. Rubenstein.  How much more time do you think?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Maybe 10, 15 minutes.

MR. ELSAYED:  Looking at the schedule for the day, Ms. Grice, I think you indicated you needed an hour?

MS. GRICE:  Yes, I no longer need an hour and I offered to give some of my time to Mr. Rubenstein because he covered already a lot of my questions.

MR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  We'll still hold you to the 10 minutes, though.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.

MR. ELSAYED:  Go ahead.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let me ask you about the fixed Consumer Price Index or First Nations federal section 28.2, reserve crossing permits may not align with inflation.

I think what you're trying to say here -- by inflation,  you're talking about the 2 percent and that the CPI is not the same as how the Board calculates -- will not necessarily be the same as 2 percent in a given year, is that correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that's correct.  The CPI isn't the same as the 2 percent and those federal -- those federal permits in the First Nations agreements are quite a large part of our budget, of the 4.9 million.  So it would have an impact if the consumer -- the CPI is higher than inflation.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, when you say it's a huge part, maybe you can --


MS. TIDMARSH:  My flare of words.  It would be -- it would be an increase above the 2 percent if the difference between the CPI was larger than the 2 percent inflation factor, which I believe --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry.

MS. TIDMARSH:  You may call up the IR that I'm about to pull up.  There is an IR that talks about the CPI and the difference between the CPI over the past ten years and it shows --


MS. WEINSTEIN:  Staff 26 will have the table comparing the two CPI rates.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Thank you, Ms. Weinstein.  So you can see -- I'm not sure if we've pulled it up, or if you have it.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I mean, I know what the IR -- the question I was going to ask, but you can take me to it.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Thank you.  So, yes, so on the third page of that answer there's a table.  Thank you.

So the CPI adjustment.  So you can see the CPI over the past ten years in some cases has actually risen above 2 percent, and so even in some cases up to 3 percent, so that is a factor of our list of, you know, death by a thousand cuts of our OM&A budget, of all the things that we can see increases of.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let's just stay on this table.  You would agree with me that in many years it's below 2 percent?

MS. TIDMARSH:  In some cases it is, but without doing the math on average -- it's also the Toronto one that we're looking at.  So it's the Toronto one, which is higher than the Ontario rate.  So overall it's been increasing since 2016.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But it could be higher than 2 percent, it could be lower than 2 -- the CPI could be higher than the 2 percent inflation or lower than 2 percent inflation?  We don't know?

MS. TIDMARSH:  We won't know over the whole ten years of the term, no.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  But I actually wanted to take you to page 65 of my compendium, because you did say -- I just want to clarify, you said it's a large part of the 4.94 OM&A budget that we're talking about.  I just wanted to clarify that wit
h you.  My understanding was what we were talking about is a portion of the property taxes and rates payments budget that is 600,000 dollars, correct?  Or am I --


MS. TIDMARSH:  So there are --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- is it -- is it in other sets of categories and I misunderstood?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Correct, so there --


MS. WEINSTEIN:  There is multiple -- go ahead.

MS. TIDMARSH:  So more than just the property taxes and rates payments, those are the 28(2) federal agreements, but there are also Indigenous participation agreements that are part of the .98 that also have escalation factors in them as well.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  But just so I'm clear --


MS. WEINSTEIN:  There's also -- sorry, there's also, I just want to point out, this portion in the Indigenous compliance section as well for the species at risk permit that does also inflate by the City of Toronto CPI, so I think it's three of the line items.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  I think the confusion is on page 59 you're only -- it's only talking about the First Nation federal section 28(2) reserve cross permits, and you're talking about, we also have this built into other agreements; is that fair?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, I should have added them as a greater risk.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  So the next one is new First Nations reserve lands that could be added to the land base of the East-West Tie land requiring new federal agreements and payments.  Do you see that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, I do.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Is there any expectation that is likely to occur?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, there is.  And so in northwestern Ontario there are quite a few outstanding land claims from First Nations communities, and in fact, over the development of the East-West Tie line all 8 years two examples have shown up, the first one being Pays Plat, so Pays Plat First Nation, the line crosses through Pays Plat First Nation, originally was 1.5 kilometres.  Now they had an addition to their land base -- it's called an ATR, additions to reserve -- it now crosses 6.5 kilometres of our land base.  Another example here would be Pic Mobert First Nation, and so Pic Mobert First Nation, originally their land reserve was not close to the transmission line.  There recently -- there -- added more additions to reserve.

And as part of those additions to reserve some of our access routes have also gone through their reserve lands and we have had to negotiate federal permits for those.

Those are two instances.  I can't list off the top of my head all the outstanding land claims, but I do know that there are some with Red Rock, who is quite close, also with Pic River, also has some outstanding land-claim issues.  Those are just two of the 18 in the area.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And just so I understand, that bucket that we're talking about would be to increase the 600,000 for property taxes and rights payments?  That would be in that bucket that would increase?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So that property rights and lands payments, that's the additions of federal 28(2) permits.  However, there could be additional payments that the First Nations would require for mitigation payments, so also, for example, if the federal reserve land increased as part of the caribou zone, so there are mitigation payments as part of potential damage -- or potential impacts to caribou that are included in the cost, so not just the property rights.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And the next bullet point is unexpected damage from right-of-way users or wildlife, e.g., vandalism, bear eating plastic wire markers, and snowmobilers accidentally damaging a tower guy wire.  You agree with me that is -- those issues are -- fall under the -- similar to the discussion we had with respect to the localized extreme weather events?

MS. TIDMARSH:  They are, and I think I would add again this list is death by a thousand cuts.  I hate to keep saying it, but it's yet another thing that could happen on the project that could increase the OM&A budget.

Mr. Mayers, did you want to add anything about any of those damage or the frequency or the likelihood of that happening?

MR. MAYERS:  Yeah, it's probably very likely, but again, this is rolled up as part of the overall maintenance mitigation costs.  It is -- these are the kind of things that happen on transmission lines, and basically showing you here is, you know, the kind of challenges out there, and a bear or some animal -- cattle like to eat them down here in Florida, so -- they just chew on them.  It's important to have these guy wire markers, particularly on our line, because we do have a large number of guyed structures, and we don't want snowmobilers who are accessing and using the right-of-way to get hurt.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then the last one is potential compliance changes through the North American Electricity Reliability Corporation which will flow through to the Northeast Power Coordinating Council and IESO.  You'd agree with me that insofar as material that would likely qualify for a Z factor?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I think that -- Mr. Mayers?

MR. MAYERS:  Well, generally speak to the compliances that relate to the transmission line.  I would disagree with that.  These are things that again if you go back to the vegetation management requirement in FAC003, 003 is the standard.  The dash 4 that I'm referring to is the revision.

So since the vegetation management plan has been in existence -- and I do believe it started in the early 2000 after transmission lines sagged and took out the northeast -- you can see that approximately every couple years before it comes out and makes some adjustments, so those adjustments are discussed and the impact is mandatory, so what we're trying to do is basically discuss those compliance requirements, or basically tell you about those potential for those compliance requirements.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can I ask you lastly if we can go to staff 59, which is at page 60 of the compendium.  You were asked in part C here to provide targets for each performance measure provided in response A for years 2022 to 2031.  Do you see that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, I do.

MR. MAYERS:  Yeah.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And you did do that, correct?  In response --


MS. TIDMARSH:  If you scroll down there's a table.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So you talk about all the cost pressures on the OM&A, yet when I look at the OM&A per kilometre for your target, it's flat for the entire period.  So can you help me understand how you're going to have all these OM&A increases and yet your target remains flat?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So I'll begin the answer, and Mr. Mayers can add to it.  These are performance measures.  These are targets.  So NextBridge for its OM&A cost, which is the entire bucket, will endeavour to keep it flat, and so -- and that may require us to seek some cost savings somewhere else, but again, did not pass that -- any increases on to the ratepayers, I think is what we were trying to show, is that we would -- if those increases -- if there were increases, that we would have to find efficiencies elsewhere, but at this point in time we don't think that we will be able to find any sort of efficiencies, and so we're trying to keep it as flat as possible.

Mr. Mayers, did you want to add anything there?

MR. MAYERS:  No, I think you covered it pretty well.  I mean, we are setting very aggressive targets, and at the same time, you know, we're confident that we can keep this O&M budget at the 4.94 million that we projected over that 10-year period.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so when we're back here in 2031 for the next 10-year rate application we should hold you accountable to ensuring that the OM&A budget that is about 4.94 million dollars, that's the target?

MR. MAYERS:  We hold ourselves accountable to meet these targets.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  Thank you very much, panel.  You've been very patient, and I appreciate your answers.  Thank you very much.

MR. MAYERS:  Thank you.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you very much.  Now we'll go to -- we will now take a short break.  My time now is 3:45, so we will resume with AMPCO at 3:55.  See you then.
--- Recess taken at 3:45 p.m.
--- On resuming at 3:57 p.m.


MR. ELSAYED:  Welcome back.  We're now going to go through the last segment with Ms. Grice.
Cross-Examination by Ms. Grice:


MS. GRICE:  Thank you very much.  Shelley Grice representing AMPCO.  I have a compendium, if we can get that marketed as an exhibit, please.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be Exhibit K1.3.
EXHIBIT K1.3:  AMPCO COMPENDIUM FOR NEXTBRIDGE PANEL 1


MS. GRICE:  I expect to be about 15 or 20 minutes.  If we can please turn to page 2 of AMPCO's compendium.  That's page 1; I numbered them excluding the title page.  Thank you.

This is a table in the evidence that shows the forecast of the construction costs of 737.1 million dollars.  I just have a few questions on that the construction cost forecast.

If we can next please turn to page 20 of the compendium --


MS. TIDMARSH:  I think we're having some numbering issues.

MS. GRICE:  The page numbers are on the lower right hand corner of the compendium.  Okay.  So this is reflecting a decision in a leave to construct application dated February 11, 2019, and I want to draw your attention to part of the decision.

If we can now go to page 21, in the very last paragraph there it says:
"The OEB remains concerned with the construction costs put forward by NextBridge.  At designation, NextBridge's cost estimate for the construction of the transmission line was 409 million.  By the time it filed its leave-to-construct application, NextBridge's construction estimate had increased to 737 million.  NextBridge did not provide an updated construction cost estimate since filing its application, nor did NextBridge submit a construction cost estimate associated with a 2021 in-service date.  During the oral hearing, NextBridge stated that it did not have to accelerate to ensure a December 2020 in-service date -- sorry, if it did not have to accelerate, it could actually bring the construction costs in lower.  This decision and order should not be taken as accepting the level of costs of the NextBridge-East-West Tie project for the purposes of recovery from ratepayers.  NextBridge will have to demonstrate the prudence of its costs when seeking to recover those costs in the future."


Can you explain to us at that time, what was NextBridge thinking as to how it could bring the construction costs in lower?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I can begin to answer that question.  If it's possible, I think -- I'm not sure if it's in your compendium or the others, there is a transcript.  Do you have that transcript?

MS. GRICE:  Yes, the next page.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Can we bring that up?  That would be great.  Excellent, thank you.

As part of this, this was what the Board was referring to that NextBridge discussing if it could bring its costs in lower.  So there are a few things in here.

So line number 10, we start discussing potential for the cost to come in lower if four things didn't happen as part of those costs.  And I would like to if possible bring up Staff number 44 of our IRs.  I'm not sure if it's in your compendium, but perhaps we can do that ourselves.  Thanks Jillian, if you can scroll, counsel.  Keep going to the next page -- thank you.  So there is the transcript there.

There we go, perfect.  So as part of that, we said there was potential for us to bring the costs in lower if four things didn't materialize.  Here are the four things that are referred to in Staff IR number 49 from the leave to construct.

The first would be additional environmental conditions that may need to be in place to start construction in the spring of 2019 versus the fall of '18, as originally planned.  You can see in our opening presentation that we talked about our conditions on our environmental assessment.  There were over 1,061 conditions.

Some of those conditions were conditions that NextBridge did not anticipate and that we weren't able to start construction in the spring of 2019.  In fact, we began construction in the fall of 2019, so that didn't materialize.

The second one here is increasing equipment and crews or shifts to achieve a 2021 in-service date.  This one, however, doesn't make sense any more because it's actually a 2021 in-service date.

But the third one, so adjustment to equipment and labour as may be impacted by the schedule consistent with article 4 of the EPC agreement, that materialized and that actually increased our costs as well.

And the fourth one here, increased oversight of additional construction crews or shifts.  So that also materialized.  We had some permitting delays that caused us to add additional construction crews and shifts.

So these four caveats did materialize and what NextBridge did is NextBridge used its contingency to allocate funds for these overages to keep the cost at 737 million dollars.

Also I would add that if you -- I apologize for flipping back and forth, but if you can go back to the Transcript, please, in the compendium. Thank you.

So we discuss in here at the bottom of the page on line 24 -- I say the word "so" quite frequently.  So it is just four months in, so if it's April of 2021, it would be different than December of 2021.

So the time NextBridge was talking about if the in-service date increased only by a few months from the end of 2020, which was the original service date, if that was different.  But in fact the in-service date moved all the way to October of 2021.

So because of those four caveats and because of the actual length of time of the increase of the in-service date, NextBridge was not able to bring its costs in under 737 million dollars.

MS. GRICE:  Just to clarify, the caveats you mentioned as well as the increased length of time, there were no other areas you were able to make any savings with respect to construction costs?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So we did actually do have some -- we did have some savings from construction costs.  We did have savings from our material costs.  However, all of those were offset in our contingency by the increases from those four caveats and the length of time that the in-service date was moved.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Thank you.  Can we please move to page 12 of the compendium?  I want to talk a little bit about what happened from that period of time, 2019, to when what I believe here is the first quarterly progress report for the project.  It's dated August 30, 2019.  Is that correct, this is the first quarterly report?

MS. TIDMARSH:  This would be the first quarterly report that NextBridge filed after receiving its leave to construct, you're correct.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  It says under the second paragraph there that after the issuance of the leave to construct, NextBridge undertook a rebudgeting effort based on the in-service date change from Q4 2020 to Q4 2021.  The rebudgeting effort incorporated the timing of Indigenous and stakeholder consultation, environmental studies, permits approval, and authorizations to support the new in-service date.

If we turn the page, it provides your budget estimate in your first quarterly report, and I just -- my understanding from what you've told me earlier about the change from the original estimate of 409 million to now 737 -- and I believe this shows up in this table -- that you revised the engineering and construction costs, the environmental and remediation activities costs, and the Indigenous activities costs based on this new in-service date.  And you can see in column F the forecast budget change of those three items, and then in column G the budget change.  So for engineering and construction it was 7 percent, for environmental and remediation activities, I believe that's 16 percent, and then 17 percent for Indigenous activities.

So just based on our discussion, this increase then is net of any savings that might have occurred between the old estimate and the new estimate; is that correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So I'll begin the answer, and Ms. Weinstein can add to it.  So those changes in forecasting amounts, they were then allocated to contingency, so you can see that the contingency then gets allocated -- that 100 percent of contingency is allocated to make up for these changes.  We also -- supplemental to this report the Board had asked us to further break down how we allocated contingency, and so that's in a February 2020 filing, and so your question around, is this net of any sort of savings, you can see in that February 2020 filing we talk about some savings that we got from materials costs, other savings that we got from allocating more risk to the general contractor, but then also the additions from these changes, and, yes, it's net of all of those.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Thank you very much.  Can we please turn to page 23 of the compendium.  So this is from the same leave-to-construct application, and it's a decision dated December 20th, 2018.  If you turn the page, I just want to talk a little bit about what's said there regarding NextBridge's construction costs.  So if we look at the second paragraph under section 5.11, it says here:

"When asked through interrogatories and cross-examination, NextBridge declined to provide a not-to-exceed price.  In its argument-in-chief NextBridge stated that its construction cost estimate is a mature AACE international (formerly the Association for the Advancement of Cost Engineering) class 2 estimate with a narrow accuracy band of plus or minus 10 percent and that NextBridge's estimate is on the cusp of becoming an AACE class 1 estimate, which will occur upon approval of NextBridge's EA."

So this morning you went through various things that have happened with respect to this project, and one of them is that you received approval of your EA and you also obtained certain land agreements, you successfully negotiated your land agreement.

So would you classify your current 737.1 million dollar construction cost as a class 1 estimate?  Have you reached that at this point in time?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I'll pass that question to my engineer, to Mr. Mayers, to answer.

MR. MAYERS:  Yes, we have.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  And have you completed 100 percent of your engineering design?

MR. MAYERS:  No, the engineering design continues.  We have released construction drawings, but the contractor has responsibilities for engineering of foundations, so as he continues to move down the right of way there is additional engineering requirements that still must be completed.

MS. GRICE:  Do you have a percentage?  Like, would you be able to say what percentage you have completed in terms of your engineering design?

MR. MAYERS:  It's a very high percentage.  You know, we're probably in the high 90s, because in general the contractor has -- even the contractor's engineering of the foundation, he has multiple alternatives that he already has designed, so when he goes to each individual structure location and does a geotechnical analysis to make a decision on what type of foundation needs to be installed, he goes, and he basically has a tool box that has already been designed.  Unless there is something unusual about that design, he can pick from a design that he already has that he can use for a foundation for that location, or he may have to design another.  But as far as the overall transmission line itself, our consulting engineer has completed the design of the line.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Thank you.  And back in this time, which is 2018, you say you have a narrow accuracy band of plus or minus 10 percent.  I believe in your discussion today with Mr. Rubenstein you said there is no uncertainty around the 737.1 million dollar cost estimate, so would we be able to say -- would you agree that the accuracy band is now zero percent?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So I can start this answer and Mr. Mayers can add.  So NextBridge has no uncertainties on the project on its forecasting.  However, the project itself, the unknowns that are still out there within the next year of construction would lead to some uncertainty.

Mr. Mayers, do you want to discuss how the AACE comes up with that plus or minus 10 percent?

MR. MAYERS:  Yeah, I mean, basically to go from a class 5 down to a class 1 estimate, what you're doing is you're defining your scope and you're ensuring that you've looked at all the unknowns at this point.  We've been into this project long enough that, you know, we're confident again because of the line design, the material's been ordered, material's on-site, there is very little that we expect to change, and as I just described, the contractor has -- he still has some foundation design work to do and structure erection, but we're confident that the 737 number that we've laid before this Board is still a good number.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Thank you.  I'm going to leave it at that.  Can we please turn to page 6 of the compendium.  I just want to highlight the number there.  So NextBridge's total OM&A budget forecast is now 4.94 million, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that's correct.

MS. GRICE:  Thank you.  And if we can please turn to page 25 of the compendium.  This is again from the December 2018 decision regarding the leave to construct, and it just -- under OM&A cost it says there that NextBridge forecasts its OM&A costs to be 3.92 million per year.

Would you agree now that costs have increased by 1 million since that time?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, the cost has increased by 1 million since that time, and NextBridge has explained that the majority of that 1 million dollar increase is due to refining of our Indigenous costs.

MS. GRICE:  And can you just elaborate a little bit on what that means?

MS. TIDMARSH:  For sure.  So originally our cost was 3.92, and one of the line items in those costs was -- so there was operations line item, there was a regulatory line item, and there was a compliance line item, and included in that compliance line item were costs for the 28.2 reserve crossing permit, so those federal reserve crossing permits.  And so we broke those out now in our operations budget into different line items when it comes to Indigenous participation and Indigenous -- the 28.2 reserve crossings, so those reserve crossing costs have actually since increased.  As I mentioned before to Mr. Rubenstein, First Nations land claims have continued to increase over the life of the project, and so for example I mentioned Pays Plat reserve was only 1.5 kilometres that the line crossed through and now it's 6.5, so that increased those costs.  Another additional increase of those costs would be mitigation payments for the overall benefits permit for caribou.  So in our caribou benefits permit the MECP, Ministry of Environment, Conservation and Parks, instructed NextBridge to work with First Nations to mitigate any potential impacts of caribou, and so those costs are also included in our overall benefits permit costs in operations.

And then finally there is a third cost in here for Indigenous costs, and that came from one of our conditions from our environmental assessment, so as part of our environmental assessment, we were asked to also include Indigenous monitoring.  So Indigenous monitoring is all throughout the construction period and also included in our operations and maintenance where NextBridge hires Indigenous monitors to ensure that work on the line is done with an eye to cultural values.  So those costs have since increased that OM&A budget.

MS. GRICE:  Thank you.  That's very helpful, thank you.  I just have one question left and if we can please turn to page 26 of the compendium, it's from the evidence and it's under the subject asset utilization and optimization.  And under paragraph 22, its talking about the agreement with NEET and it says here that NextBridge will optimize asset management throughout the East West Tie line's life cycle.  To achieve this goal, NextBridge will work closely with NEET, utilizing NEET's extensive expertise and experience to monitor its transmission system assets, identify and define needs, and determine the optimal timing for maintenance activities and opportunities to invest that maintain high reliability and reduce maintenance expenses over the long term.

I'm focused mostly on reducing maintenance expenses over the long term.  When you set up your 4.94 OM&A budget, have you mad any accommodations for those increasing maintenance costs over the long-term?  Are they factored in in way?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I can begin the answer and Mr. Mayers can help with assisting it.  As you mentioned multiple times, our OM&A budget is quite tight, and we intend to keep that budget as tight as possible and not pass on any overages to the ratepayers.  And so here, reducing operations and maintenance over the long-term, I think that's a long-term forecast, so not the test year that we're looking at.  This is a further outlook on the line as a long-term asset, which again makes it very attractive for NextBridge as a company.  So in the long-term, NextBridge would seek to reduce those expenses.

Mr. Mayers, did you want to add to that?

MR. MAYERS:  Yeah, I think we talked a little bit earlier about some capital projects that could help support maintenance costs over time, particularly things like putting up bird discouragers to prevent outages and additional inspections that might be called upon should we have an outage, because we investigate every outage.

We talked about cameras in our responses that could be put strategically at major river and road crossings to help also support the need for findings and being able to determine potentially outages and what's going on in your right of way prior to sending crews out to investigate.

If we can see a wildfire initiated or smoke somewhere in the right of way, or smoke coming towards the right of way, we can make the appropriate notifications to ensure that we have a response team available.  Or we can determine it's not something that is going to require an inspection and save those dollars related to having to respond.

We talk about drones at some point, and to allow our operations and high voltage lead to have access to go out and do inspections on their own, as opposed to having to contact HONI to, say, respond to a particular type of an outage if our crews, our employees -- two NEET employees can go out and do the work and make a determination, and come up with a decision on a go/no-go as to whether we need to contact HONI or get HONI engaged.  That can also save money as well.

MS. GRICE:  I think in your discussion with Mr. Rubenstein today, you mentioned that you have put 170,000 dollars in the budget for known unknowns.  Do you have an estimate of the efficiencies that are anticipated over the 10 year period?  Do you have a number for that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  We don't have an estimate for any of those efficiencies.  However, as we've mentioned, there are so many potential increases -- again the list of death by a thousand cuts.  So any of those potential efficiencies would actually be offset by all the extra things that NextBridge will have to probably perform over the life of the line and yet not pass on to ratepayers.

MS. GRICE:  How do you know that?  If you don't have an estimate of efficiencies, how do you know they're going to be offset?

MS. WEINSTEIN:  Can I add to that?  We've provided a test year budget to base our revenue requirement off of, so within the test year budget, we made our best estimate on what these things will cost and the expectation is over the IR term, we will manage within the RCI mechanism that we end up with to keep managing those costs and whatever the OM&A does end up with.

We provided a test year budget because that's what we know right now.  The rest would need to be managed.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  I'm going to leave it at that. Thank you very much, those are my questions.

MR. ELSAYED:  Thank you very much, Ms. Grice, and thank you to everybody else for your contributions today.  This concludes our hearing for today.  So have a good night, everybody, and we will see you tomorrow at 9:30.
--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:24 p.m.
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